

Review

Not peer-reviewed version

# Yet Even More Proposed Tests of the Soliton-AP Model: Still No Compelling Evidence for It After Twenty Years of a Metaphysical Approach

Scott Meissner\*

Posted Date: 13 May 2025

doi: 10.20944/preprints202505.0957.v1

Keywords: action potential; soliton; scientific method; metaphysics; lipids; membrans



Preprints.org is a free multidisciplinary platform providing preprint service that is dedicated to making early versions of research outputs permanently available and citable. Preprints posted at Preprints.org appear in Web of Science, Crossref, Google Scholar, Scilit, Europe PMC.

Copyright: This open access article is published under a Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license, which permit the free download, distribution, and reuse, provided that the author and preprint are cited in any reuse.

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions, and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions, or products referred to in the content.

Review

## Yet Even More Proposed Tests of the Soliton-AP Model: Still No Compelling Evidence for It After Twenty Years of a Metaphysical Approach

Scott T. Meissner

Formerly a volunteer Adjunct Faculty member at, University of the Philippines Diliman, Institute of Biology, Quezon City, NCR 1101, The Philippines; stm4@cornell.edu

**Abstract:** It has been twenty years since the soliton-action potential (AP) model was introduced, so an evaluation of this model and its status is presented. It will be noted that there is, still, no compelling evidence for this model's assumption that a major lipid phase transition occurs during APs. Concerning the views of anaesthetic actions, changes in capacitance, alterations in membrane width and optical features during AP which the soliton-AP model presents, it is noted that alternative views account for these features in a manner consistent with the modern electrophysiological AP model. It is also noted that the soliton-AP model's proposed means to account for the electrical features of the AP has yet to be shown to operate. Comments will be presented on the recent proposals that an AP has a wavelength, and for a new mechanical synapse hypothesis. It will be suggested that claims for the soliton-AP model to be adiabatic, and for AP passage upon collision, may imply that this model violates the law of conservation of energy. And the claim that APs do not generate net heat will be questioned and refuted by examination of published data. Thus twenty years after its introduction, no clear support is found for the soliton-AP model. Of concern is the apparent abandonment of the scientific method and its standards of evidence by some advocates of the soliton-AP model, as seen in the discounting of evidence judged to be inconsistent with their model. Rather a metaphysical view is offered in which the soliton-AP model is argued to be valid based merely on its alleged association with certain principles and laws. It is suggested that the scientific method's approach of judging a model against data is the appropriate standard of evidence and should be used to evaluate the soliton-AP model.

Keywords: action potential; soliton; scientific method; metaphysics; lipids; membranes

Contents:

Introduction.

Whither the phase transition?

Concerning the anaesthetic argument.

About capacitance.

Concerning membrane width and optical property changes.

On the electrical features of the AP.

About the hypothesis of AP wavelength.

Concerning the mechanical synapse hypothesis.

On energy issues and the AP passage hypothesis.

Does an AP generate net heat or not?

In conclusion: On standards of evidence and the dangers of abandoning the scientific method.

Acknowledgments.

Citations.



"The method of science, as stodgy and grumpy as it may seem, is far more important than the findings of science." Carl Sagan (1997, pg. 26).

#### Introduction

Scientists typically welcome new and original thinking. The opportunity to find new ways to account for phenomena in a manner which better incorporates both old and new data generally is intellectually interesting. New proposals typically have their assumptions and predictions tested, and if the results of those tests support the new proposed model, and if it can be shown to account for other related findings obtained in the past, then often confidence in the new model grows, and more people may come to accept and use it as a framework for their thinking.

However, there is one relatively new proposed model which, while it certainly displays some interesting and original thinking, has not managed to gain broad acceptance; this is the soliton-action potential (AP) model (Heimburg et al., 2005; Appali et al., 2012). This model was proposed as an alternative to what here will be called the electrophysiological AP model, which includes many revisions and alterations of the original Hodgkin-Huxley AP model (Hodgkin et al., 1952a) from which it is derived. This soliton-AP model attempts to account for the features of an AP by presenting it as physical wave, based on a major lipid phase transition happening in the plasma membrane of the excitable cell during the AP. The soliton-AP model was first presented about twenty years ago (Heimburg et al., 2005), and since that time there have been dozens of articles published which expand on the original presentation and advocate for this soliton-AP model (for a list of specific articles see Meissner, 2022). Recently one of the advocates of this soliton-AP model has published a new review of this model (Heimburg, 2025) which presents some new proposals. This article is largely a response to some of the issues raised by Heimburg (2025), and to aspects of the soliton-AP model in general.

One interesting facet of the soliton-AP model is how it seemingly alters cause-and-effect relationships compared to the standard electrophysiological AP model. Under the electrophysiological AP model the electrical field changes which occur during an AP are considered to induce secondary physical effects (El Hady et al., 2015). Thus a change in transmembrane voltage causes physical changes. While in the soliton-AP model a physical change, based on a presumed lipid phase transition as a molecular mechanism, is suggested to be the cause of the electrical features seen during an AP (Heimburg et al., 2005, 2006). Thus the advocates for the soliton-AP model would suggest that a physical change is producing a secondary electrical effect. In the topics considered below, we will see that this apparent inversion of cause-and-effect between these two models comes up several times.

One purpose of this article is to review some of the proposals and claims which Heimburg (2025) presents in his recent article about the soliton-AP model. One issue which arises concerning the soliton-AP model is that often many of its advocates do not question whether their assumption that a lipid phase transition happens during an AP is valid or not. Instead, it will be argued that they often go right past that assumption and then propose other inferences which they claim, either directly or indirectly, should support the original assumption. Thus no direct evidence is offered, and instead we get indirect arguments. But since even Heimburg (2007, pg. 311) notes that this manner of argument should not be "... taken as final proof..." it seems appropriate to consider some of the these indirect arguments being made by Heimburg (2025), and to examine the alternative explanations for some of them in turn. In some cases these alternative explanations are in need of further study, but in several cases they are quite well supported by evidence, and often these alternatives are seen as being consistent with the electrophysiological AP model. Therefore, given that we have no direct evidence of an actual lipid phase transition happening during an AP, the scientific method suggests that reasonable alternatives should be examined in an open manner. If the reader compares what follows in this article on these topics to what is often given in articles by some of the advocates for

the soliton-AP model (see for instance Heimburg, 2025), they may well note that these alternatives are often given only passing mention, or are entirely ignored.

Another purpose of this article is to present, especially for those who are encountering the soliton-AP model for the first time, some sense of why this model is not currently widely accepted by many scientists. The intent in previous reviews of the soliton-AP model (Meissner, 2018, 2022) has been to note the sorts of tests, and the types of findings from such tests, which the good people who advocate for this soliton-AP model would need to present if they wish to make an evidence-based argument for their model. This will be continued here in this article where several new tests will be proposed. This is done in the spirit of the scientific method, and if the advocates for the soliton-AP model are able to obtain the needed evidence to make a convincing evidence-based argument for their model, then the author of this review, as a dutiful philosopher, will be very interested in examining such findings. If clear, compelling, and reproducible results in support of the soliton-AP model are presented, then under the scientific method this model may well gain acceptance and be taken up with growing confidence and interest. Of course, if no such evidence is presented, or if what is presented turns out to be flawed, then the soliton-AP model may remain as it is now: an interesting conjecture but not strongly accepted due to the lack of supporting evidence. Thus the lack of convincing evidence will be argued to be the current state in which we find this soliton-AP model at this time, and a major reason for its lack of acceptance.

Finally, another purpose of this article is to note, as has been described previously (Meissner, 2022), and to further illustrate, how some of the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model are often not using the scientific method and its standard of evidence. Instead the arguments presented by some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model often take a metaphysical approach; they presume that their model is so directly and tightly mandated by laws and principles in which we have strong confidence that their proposed soliton-AP model must also be worthy of strong confidence. This confidence is displayed by their using their model to judge which data are to be seen as correct, which is the exact opposite of the scientific method where a new model would be judged by the data. Examples of this use of an apparent new standard of evidence will be described with regard to several of the issues covered in this article. The argument will be made that those proponents of the soliton-AP model who thus abandon the scientific method's standards of evidence for a new metaphysical standard of evidence are, in effect, no longer behaving as scientists, and are instead acting as natural philosophers.

#### Whither the Phase Transition?

It has been stated (Heimburg, 2025) that a central feature of the soliton-AP model is its assumption that a major lipid phase transition is happening as its basis for the AP. In his recent article, Heimburg (2025) cites earlier work from his group about this assumption, such as Græsbøll et al. (2014, pg. 2144) where it is stated; "Such melting transitions in fact have been found for a number of biomembranes (30)." It should be noted that the item cited here (30) is Heimburg's own 2007 text, which largely explores artificial lipid bilayers, and not biomembranes as found in actual living cells. Heimburg (2025), in his recent article, also cites his own 2007 text on this matter of lipid phase transitions (Heimburg, 2007, pg. 311) and notes several suggestive features associated with lipid phase transitions, and then states: "The data mentioned above should be taken as a hint toward the existence of transitions during the nerve pulse but not as a final proof." And later on Heimburg (2007, pg. 320) states: "...we have no direct data on the melting of nerve axon membranes..." However Heimburg (2007, pg. 285) also states; "Little is known about the relaxation times of the cooperative processes in biomembranes. However, let us be courageous and assume that the linear relation between heat capacity and relaxation times is the same for biomembranes as it is for model membranes." By his reference here to "model membranes" Heimburg is apparently referring to simple artificial phosopholipid bilayers, and not to actual biological membranes as found in living cells. From these statements it seems clear that the presence of lipid phase transitions in biological membranes is a major assumption of the soliton-AP model, but not yet an established fact. Given this

key assumption, it seems reasonable, as noted previously (Meissner 2018), to raise questions as to whether or not something like a liquid-crystalline to gel phase transition actually happens during an AP in biological membranes, as the soliton-AP model assumes. Typically in science such assumptions are subjected to testing, and then only accepted when verified by direct evidence. We will see that this is not the case for some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model, who adopt a different standard of evidence in this matter which is evident in that they accept the soliton-AP model and its various assumptions and predictions without always having obtained confirming evidence.

It has also been noted that for the soliton-AP model to account for certain AP features, such as AP velocity, the phase transition that is assumed to be happening during an AP would need to have a sufficient enthalpy (i.e., heat) of transition, so that when this enthalpy value is put into the equations which the advocates for the soliton-AP model use they can get estimates of AP features, including its velocity, similar to those observed in actual cells (Meissner, 2022). So not just any lipid phase transition with any enthalpy of transition would be acceptable here. Generally the assumption is made that the enthalpy of the presumed lipid phase transition proposed to be happening during an AP would be about 35 kJ/mol, this being the value seen for DPPC lipid bilayers undergoing a liquidcrystalline to gel transition (Heimburg et al., 2006; Mosgaard et al., 2015). It should be noted that not all lipid phase transitions have such a large enthalpy of transition. For instance, a liquid disordered (Ld) to liquid ordered (Lo) phase transition is reported by Almeida (2011) to have a much lower energy change compared to that of some other phase transitions. All this naturally leads to questions as to whether any sort of lipid phase transition(s) happen normally in the plasma membranes of eukaryotic cells, and most especially in excitable cells such as neurons, and if so, can the enthalpy of that phase transition be measured so that the soliton-AP model equations can be used to then estimate the resulting soliton features which would be expected? So let us look at some studies on whether or not such lipid phase transitions are detected in either the plasma membrane of cells, or in phospholipid bilayers with compositions which mimic somewhat that of the plasma membrane.

As has been noted previously (Meissner, 2022), due in part to the high cholesterol content of the plasma membrane of many cells, it may be questioned whether a lipid phase transition can happen in the plasma membrane under normal physiological conditions (Shaw et al., 2021). One study of interest here is from the lab group of Prof. Heimburg (Peters et al., 2017), which used differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and found that in DMPC vesicles, when given a cholesterol content similar to that often seen in neuron plasma membrane, there was, by DSC, no phase transition detected, meaning that no heat of transition was detected. This finding implies that since there is no heat of transition detected, then, in the presence of cholesterol at the level used, perhaps no lipid phase transition is happening and so no soliton can be produced? It should also be noted that this study also used neutron scattering to follow any lipid phase changes as well, and they state about results obtained using this method the following (Peters et al. 2017, pg. 3): "Similar to the DSC data the sterols wash out the effect of the phase transition, which is no longer visible for the cholesterol concentrations of the neutron scattering experiments at any applied pressure." This finding of no detectable phase transition in the presence of a certain content of cholesterol has been noted before (Steim et al., 1969; Meissner, 2022). Thus, here are two methods used by Peters et al. (2017), DSC and neutron scattering, which failed to detect a clear lipid phase transition when cholesterol was present in these DMPC vesicles, which is to say at a cholesterol content similar to that often seen in the plasma membrane of neurons. As noted above, if the enthalpy of phase transition can not be measured, then the soliton-AP model would have no value to input into its equations, and so no estimate could be made of what, if any, soliton features would occur. Indeed, without an actual lipid phase transition being detected here, one could argue that soliton production should not occur under these conditions. Oddly, in discussing their findings Peters et al. (2017, pg. 7) suggests that this "... disappearance of the enthalpy of transition might be an artifact of this technique..." a claim which would seem to need some examination. Are they suggesting that we should assume that a lipid phase transition is happening which cannot be detected? What would be the basis for such an assumption? Obviously, the failure of a lipid phase transition to be detected would suggest there may be compositions of lipid

bilayers, and by extension of biological membranes, for which lipid phase transitions of high enthalpy changes just may not occur, as has been noted earlier (Meissner, 2018, 2022). After all, it has been noted that high cholesterol content in lipid bilayers can inhibit lipid phase transitions and the formation of lipid pores (Bennett et al., 2009).

So if there is no lipid phase transition detected under these conditions, that would cast doubt on this major assumption of the soliton-AP model, that during an AP a major lipid phase transition happens, and deny us a definite value of its enthalpy of transition for use its calculations of its presumed soliton features. We may then ask, is the reason that Peters et al. (2017) refer to these findings as an "artifact" simply to try to find a way to view their results in a manner which permits the soliton-AP model to be viable? If so, that would show how under their philosophical approach, some of the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model are willing to fit the data to their model in a rather extreme manner. While Heimburg may view such an approach as being "courageous" (Heimburg, 2007, pg. 285), it also seems to require that we should accept something, in this case that a lipid phase transition is happening, even though no direct evidence of its occurrence exists. This suggests a very different standard of evidence is being used here compared to that used under the scientific method, as suggested earlier (Meissner, 2022).

Another means to look for evidence of a lipid phase transition in a eukaryotic plasma membrane would be to look at the effects of such a lipid phase transition on the capacitance of the membrane. The liquid-crystalline lipid phase of a DPPC bilayer is known to be thinner, and so should have a higher capacitance, compared to the thicker gel phase (Heimburg, 1998). Thus if an AP is based on a soliton, which in turn proposes a major liquid-crystalline to gel phase transition as its molecular mechanism, then, as Heimburg (2025, pg 9) notes: "A soliton will therefore transiently reduce the capacitance of the membrane." Note that this implies that a sudden shift to a lower capacitance would occur during an AP. Heimburg (2025; pg. 8) also claims that such a lipid transition would occur at about 10-15°C below normal body temperatures. Thus, if a plasma membrane's capacitance is monitored while altering the temperature of the system, then a major shift in the lipid phase state should show up as a sudden shift in the capacitance seen. Such a use of capacitance shifts to monitor lipid phase changes across a range of temperatures has been demonstrated using egg lecithin bilayers (Antonov et al., 2003). While such bilayers are not biological membranes (as they lack proteins and other features), this does at least confirm that this approach has a reasonable potential to detect sudden lipid phase change-induced capacitative shifts. The question then is whether in an actual biological membrane evidence for a lipid phase transition can be found if a section of plasma membrane was taken across various temperatures and its capacitance monitored. Recently Bassetto et al. (2023) were able to carry out such an experiment. They used frog oocytes which have a cortical pigment which could absorb light and so allows for local heating, and then while raising the local temperature in stages they were able to monitor the capacitance of a section of membrane across a temperatures span of 0-50°C. Bassetto et al. (2023, see their Fig. 1D) found that the capacitance of the membrane rose in a clearly linear relationship with rise in temperature. They report no sign of any distinct sudden change in capacitance across the temperature range tested. This finding may question the assertion that the advocates of the soliton-AP model often make that major lipid phase transitions are seen in all biological membranes, and so raises more doubt as to whether their soliton-AP model truly is viable. Thus, here is a third method which seems to indicate that, unlike in simple homogeneous phospholipid bilayers, biological membranes may not exhibit large lipid phase transitions. It should be noted that frog oocyte plasma membranes are not normally excitable. However Shapiro et al. (2012) found that with the introduction and expression of the genes needed for the Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> voltage-gated channels, a frog oocyte then does display APs. It would therefore be interesting to repeat Bassetto et al. (2023)'s work to examine the capacitance of the plasma membrane across this same range of temperatures using this sort of genetically transformed frog oocyte to see if in an excitable cell membrane major lipid phase changes are indicated via their influence on capacitance compared to the results presented for a nonexcitable membrane.

Another method that can be used to detect large scale lipid phase transitions is that of Raman spectroscopy. This method has been used to examine the influence of protein/lipid interactions on lipid phase changes in phosopholipid bilayers (Heimburg et al., 1991). It should also be noted that heating of neurons by infrared treatment has been found, via Raman spectroscopy, to result in detectable lipid rearrangements (Adams et al., 2022), suggesting that this method can detect lipid rearrangements in native membranes when such changes happen. Three studies have applied this method to neurons known to be able to fire APs, and in each case no clear evidence of a distinct lipid phase transition was reported (Pézolet et al., 1985; Savoie et al., 1986; and Lee et al., 2017). Pérolet et al. (1985, pg. 367) states... "The temperature dependence of these bands does not reveal any thermotropic phase transition between 0 and 40°C." The second study used Raman spectroscopy to look for any changes in arrangement of lipids during the actual passage of an AP, and they note (Savoie et al., 1986, pg. 329) "Our results show that if there are any spectral changes during nerve excitation, these are less than 0.5% for both the phospholipid and carotenoid bands." While the study by Lee et al. (2017) followed the signal bands appropriate for a functional group associated with lipid acyl chains (the CH<sub>2</sub> group in acyl chains vibrates at 2850 cm<sup>-1</sup>), as well as the vibration of the CH<sub>3</sub> groups (at 2930 cm<sup>-1</sup>) often found in the side groups of amino acids in proteins. Lee et al. (2017) found that the signal at 2930 cm<sup>-1</sup> (that of the amino acids) did shift during AP passage, but the signal at 2850 cm<sup>-1</sup> (that of the lipid acyl groups) did not shift during AP passage. This implies that protein conformation changes were happening during the AP, and Lee et al. (2017) found good evidence that a major part of the signal they detected could be attributed to shifts in the voltage-gated sodium ion channels during the AP. This Raman spectroscopy study thus suggests that protein conformation changes occur during AP, but found no clear evidence of any major lipid phase transition happening during APs.

#### What should we conclude

Thus we have here four methods (DSC, neutron scattering, electrophysiological monitoring of membrane capacitance, and Raman spectroscopy) all of which, in the above noted studies, gave negative reports with regard to whether a lipid phase transition can occur in a bilayer with a high cholesterol content, similar to that seen in neuronal plasma membranes, or to the assumption that in biological membranes a major lipid phase transition commonly happens. A review of lipid phase transitions, as examined via many different approaches (Olfield et al., 1972), also noted many cases, in both phospholipid bilayers of certain compositions and in biological membranes, where lipid phase transitions could not be detected by a wide range of methods. Thus, in the absence of any new evidence, what we have here would seem to force us to the conclusion that the assumption which the soliton-AP model makes, that there are lipid phase transitions happening during an AP, is not supported by current evidence. How the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model respond to this sort of evidence is of interest.

It has already been noted above that the Peters et al. (2017) study claimed that this failure to find evidence of a lipid phase transition in phospholipid systems with a high cholesterol content was, they suggest, due to some sort of "artifact" when using DSC. With regard to the use of Raman spectroscopy, there is a posted preprint which presents an entirely reworked analysis of the Lee et al. (2017) data, and presents the conclusion that the lipids in the system must have been undergoing some sort of thermotropic transition, another way of referring to a lipid phase transition (Shrivastava et al., 2020). In effect, where the analysis done by Lee et al. (2017) found a change in protein conformations but no evidence for a lipid phase transition, the Shrivastava et al. (2020) preprint suggests that those same data indicate that a lipid phase transition was happening based on changes in signals which the Lee et al. (2017) article said were specific to the proteins alone. Thus, the response to some of this negative information on lipid phase transitions by these advocates of the soliton-AP model is to either call the results an artifact, or claim that the findings mean something other than what the original study concluded. Implying, again, that these advocates for the soliton-AP model are using a different standard of evidence. In this case that their soliton-AP model must be viewed as

valid and the data must be made to fit that model, or be denied if found to be inconsistent with their model.

The point remains that if during an AP no lipid phase transition has yet been detected, and therefore no estimate of the enthalpy of phase transition has been made, then there is no specific value of enthalpy to be put into the equations which the soliton-AP model uses. So in the absence of an ability to make use of an enthalpy value which was measured from actual excitable membranes, the value actually used in estimates made via the soliton-AP model is often one which is needed in order to produce the desired features in the hypothetical soliton. Indeed both the Heimburg et al. (2006) and Mosgaard et al. (2015) articles make use of an enthalpy of the phase transition for a DPPC bilyaer, 35 kJ/mol, in estimating the features of a soliton wave that might occur. Thus, on top of assuming that a lipid phase transition occurs during an AP, these advocates for the soliton-AP model also assume a value for the enthalpy of that undetected phase transition to input into their equations. And so, assumption is piled on top of assumption.

However, the important point to note is that since the introduction of the soliton-AP model, 20 years ago (Heimburg et al., 2005), the good people who advocate for this model have not, even yet, found clear positive direct evidence that compels us to take up the view that any sort of major lipid phase transition happening during an AP; neither in artificial phospholipid bilayers systems with a composition which closely matches that of the neuron plasma membrane, nor in actual plasma membranes of neurons. Thus they present no evidence in support of this basic assumption of their model, as noted earlier (Meissner, 2018). Why they have not focused their attention on this critical assumption of their model might be explained by their utter faith and acceptance that thermodynamics and perhaps other principles or laws somehow mandates, in their view, that such lipid phase transitions must occur? Thus any evidence, including this negative evidence concerning lipid phase transitions during an AP, which questions their model is not of interest to these good people. They feel convinced that their model is correct, and so any disconfirming evidence encountered must therefore be rejected. It seems that, in their view, their model should be able to judge and select which set of evidence is to be accepted; the model judges the data. So it would seem that many of these good people are using a very different standard of evidence compared to the scientific method, where a model would be judged by new data. Therefore, as argued previously (Meissner, 2022), many of the advocates of the soliton-AP model have abandoned use of the scientific method. Their arguments are made largely from faith in their model, and not from actual evidence.

#### Concerning the Anaesthetic Argument

In his recent article, Heimburg (2025) repeats the suggestion that the soliton-AP model might be a means to account for the observation that some anaesthetics are able to inhibit AP firings in neurons. However, this argument is largely based on work done on simple homogeneous phospholipid bilayers. It is noted that application of pressure can sometimes inhibit the effects of some anaesthetics, and the suggestion is made that entry of these molecules into lipid bilayers often increases the local bilayer volume, and this would be reversed by the application of pressure. In essence these good people are arguing that anaesthetic effects result from an inhibition of their model's assumed lipid phase transition, which they propose to be the basis for an action potential (Trudell, 1977; Seeger et al., 2007; Blicher et al., 2009; Græsbøll et,al., 2014; Wang et al., 2018). There are some difficulties with this proposal which deserve consideration.

One consideration is that it is rather difficult to show that a given anaesthetic treatment can inhibit a lipid phase change in the plasma membrane of a neuron when, as note previously, there is no clear evidence that such a lipid phase change actually occurs during an AP. Thus we are in the interesting realm of considering an inhibition of something which has not been detected; truly a difficult argument. Further, in his recent article (Heimburg, 2025) it is implied that this proposed anaesthetic effect should be seen as a reason for accepting the soliton-AP model as it is claimed to show the predictive power of this soliton-AP model. In essence, this suggestion is proposing that an inference, which is dependent on an unconfirmed assumption, should be taken all by itself as

evidence in support of the assumption upon which it depends. Thus, because of this prediction we are encouraged to accept that the soliton-AP model's assumption that a lipid phase transition happens during an AP is valid. This, of course, is classical circular reasoning. Naturally, IF solid evidence for a lipid phase transition during an AP in the plasma membrane of neurons and other excitable cells was found, then it might be possible to test if anaesthetic application could inhibit it. But in the current absence of such evidence, a mere inference is not evidence for an assumption on which it depends, and is essentially untestable. Thus there is a major problem with the logic of the argument being presented by the advocates of the soliton-AP model in this case.

Another consideration here is that there is much debate on whether anaesthetics act just on the lipid structural arrangements in biological membranes, or whether they might act directly on protein structures as well. One interesting article (Layne, 1984) suggests that a proposed soliton, which would move along the alpha helical domains of a protein, may be blocked by the presence of anaesthetics which would alter the protein structure and prevent this proposed soliton-within-protein phenomenon. Thus Layne (1984) suggests that anaesthetics may act directly on protein structure. Prof. Heimburg (2025) in presenting his arguments for anaesthetic affects on lipid phase transitions cites the work of Johnson et al. (1950) as evidence in support of his case. However, this reference is rather odd as what Johnson et al. (1950) examined was the anaesthetic effects on a soluble fluorescent protein. In a later review article, Johnson (1955) notes that this protein had been isolated and the inhibition of its light production by anaesthesia observed *in vitro* in the complete absence of any cell membrane. What Johnson et al. (1950) and Johnson (1955) and others (Nosaka et al., 1988; Duarte-Gómez et al., 2014) note is that in some cases anaesthesia denatures this protein, a process which increases the volume of the protein, and so applied pressure would be expected to counter this anaesthetic effect and restore the protein activity. Thus, our good Prof. Heimburg (2025), by citing Johnson et al. (1950), is citing an article which examined the effects of anaesthesia on cytosolic proteins, and so how Heimburg can offer this as evidence in support of his claim of anaesthetic effects on cell membrane lipid organization is unclear. Citing an article which studies anaesthetic effects on a protein in support of proposed anaesthetic effects on lipid arrangements does not seem to be a very logical connection.

Thus, while the advocates for the soliton-AP model suggest that anaesthetic effects are due to an inhibition of an, as of yet, unobserved lipid phase transition during APs, others note that anaesthetics, being small hydrophobic or amphipathic molecules, are able to enter the hydrophobic regions of proteins and so may act broadly on protein structures (Ueda, 2001; Sarkar et al., 2010), which would be an explanation totally independent of any effects on membrane lipid structure. Indeed, Ueda (2001; pg. 20), while arguing that the action of the anaesthetics is on proteins, notes that the lipid solubility of these anesthetics often creates confusion; "The lipid theories are often misinterpreted to mean that the anaesthetic action site is lipid membranes." This action of anaesthetics on protein structure seems to be an aspect of anaesthetic effects which Prof. Heimburg (2025) fails to note in his recent article. But the action of anesthetics on proteins has been an major focus of study by many researchers over the years.

Thus inhibition of action potentials by anaesthetics is indicated by findings that these compounds interact with, and alter the activity of, a variety of proteins; including the voltage-gated sodium ion channel (Herold et al., 2017; Körner et al., 2022), the proteins involved in synaptic vesicle fusion needed for neurotransmitter release (van Swinderen et al., 2001; Das, 2020), nicotinic acetylcholine receptors at synapses (Forman et al., 2015), and the presynaptic protein syntaxin 1A (Hawasli et al., 2004). Indeed in examining ethanol effects on GABA receptors in mice, Tapia et al. (1998; pg. 243) concluded; "In summary our data indicates that although ethanol affects the glycine receptors in spinal neurons it does not change the macroscopic properties of the lipid phase." A conclusion about anaesthetic effects which Herold et al. (2017, pg. 617) also reached; "These results suggest that anaesthetics directly interact with membrane proteins without altering lipid blayer properties at clinically relevant concentrations." The work of Roth et al. (1976) report that the ability of pressure treatments to reverse anaesthetic effects is often variable with temperature and with the

type of drug applied, and they suggest that the diversity of action of these drugs and of any pressure treatments may be due to the different proteins involved. Thus a good number of workers suggest that the action of anaesthetics is mainly on protein structure, and that any influences on the lipids might have indirect effects then on membrane proteins (Rajaram et al., 1999).

Since anaesthetics are generally rather hydrophobic, they naturally partition into the hydrophobic region of a biological membrane or lipid bilayers. If enough enters, this may result in an alteration of the thickness of a phospholipid bilayer (Moldovan et al., 2014), as well as producing a effectively higher concentration of the anaesthetic within the bilayer's hydrophobic region. Thus, in biological membranes, this may present the hydrophobic sections of membrane spanning proteins to higher local anaesthetic concentrations, which might then enhance their interaction with the these proteins' hydrophobic regions (Herold et al., 2017). Or, the altered membrane thickness may interact with membrane spanning proteins and alter the protein activities. Thus, there are arguments made that some anaesthetic effects on membrane proteins may be due to effects of the anaesthetics on the membrane lipid thickness or other properties (Butterworth et al., 1990; Rehberg et al., 1995; Goksu et al., 2009; Drexler et al., 2011; Tsuchiya et al., 2013; Jerusalem et al., 2019), but the ultimate action may well be on protein activities.

What should we conclude

While there is a debate over anaesthetic modes of action, the advocates for the soliton-AP model often ignore evidence for anaesthetic actions on proteins and focus mostly on their assumption that anaesthetics inhibit lipid phase changes in biological membranes. If there was evidence for such lipid phase changes happening in association with APs, and then, if anaesthetics were actually shown to inhibit such lipid phase changes in such biological membranes, that might be a solid argument in support of their soliton-AP model. But in the absence of such evidence this becomes yet another example of the way that the advocates for the soliton-AP model are not making an argument from evidence. They are convinced that their model is "correct" (Andersen et al., 2009, pg. 107) as they claim it is, somehow, supported by thermodynamics or some other major laws or principles. Thus they are making an argument based on faith, not on evidence, and are stating what they believe is implied by their soliton-AP model. Their belief is so great that it often seems the lack of evidence in support of this view concerns them not at all. On the other hand we have clear evidence that some protein activities which are needed for AP actions can be inhibited by anaesthetics, which is consistent with the existing electrophysiological AP model.

#### **About Capacitance**

The capacitance of biological systems is of interest, especially of biological membranes, and can be measured by common methods (Schoenberg et al., 1975; Neher et al., 1982; Lindau et al., 1988; Gentet et al., 2000; Bretschneider et al., 2006). The influence of capacitance is also noted in studies which examine the more complex trait of impedance (Cole, 1941; McAdams et al., 1995). Recall Heimburg's (2025, pg 9) statement that: "A soliton will therefore transiently reduce the capacitance of the membrane." In fact, it has been reported that during an AP there is a transient rise in capacitance seen in the plasma membrane of excitable cells (Takashima, 1976; Crotty et al., 2007; Bezanilla, 2018), and this has led to some studies which incorporate capacitance into empirical models that attempt to describe APs (Fernandez et al., 1983; Howell et al., 2015; Iravanian et al., 2019). This is yet another new modification to our understanding of the AP, and is in contrast to an earlier assumption that capacitance did not shift significantly during an AP (Huxley, 2002). This shows, yet again, that we need to continuously test our assumptions. Indeed, the changes in capacitance of the plasma membrane in some cells has been reported to be voltage-dependent (Zimmermann et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2018), and in one interesting study it was found to shift regularly following a circadian rhythm across the day (Severin et al., 2024). Two possibilities, which are not necessarily mutually exclusive, have been proposed to account for the capacitance shifts during APs; changes associated

with the membrane proteins, or changes associated with the lipid arrangements during an AP. Next each of these will be considered.

Capacitance is related to surface features, and proteins being dipolar molecules with a high surface area as well as being highly flexibility can contribute significantly to capacitance. So it is not surprising that even soluble proteins can contribute capacitance to a system even in the absence of membranes (Lund et al., 2013; Božič et al., 2021; Rahimi et al., 2022). Indeed, there is ongoing work on the use of soluble soybean proteins as a basis for capacitative storage batteries (Ferrero et al., 2015). Thus, membrane proteins can contribute to the capacitance of a biological membrane, and anything which alters the conformation of these proteins can alter their contribution to capacitance (Bassetto et al., 2023). This can be due to large protein conformational changes which either alter the surface area of the proteins or expose new dipole or charged areas (Sivasankar et al., 1998; Zimmermann et al., 2008; Bae et al., 2015), or via the binding of ligands which may cover protein regions altering their contributions to capacitance (Burtscher et al., 2020), or it can be due to the movement of small domains of the proteins which carry charged side groups producing a capacitative shift at the surface of the membrane. This last item is seen in the shift of voltage-sensing domains of many proteins including protein-based ion channels (Oliver et al., 1999; Sfondouris et al., 2008; Gleitsman et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2018; Burtscher et al., 2020; Santos-Sacchi et al., 2022), and this is sometimes referred to as a "gating current" (Bekkers et al., 1990; Kim et al., 2016a; Bezanilla, 2018; Ruíz-Fernández et al., 2021). This can also be viewed as a shift in the protein's dielectric value in association with its conformational changes (Li et al., 2013). This capacitance-related gating current is often much smaller than the ionic currents which cross the membrane during an AP (Bezanilla, 2018), but their contribution to the capacitance can alter the time constant (i.e., the RC value) of the system and so can influence certain features of the AP. Thus, with the presence of membrane proteins with voltagesensing domains able to shift in response to changes in membrane potential which occur during an AP, it would be expected that there should be alteration of the conformation of such protein domains and this would contribute to shifts in the membrane capacitance in a voltage-dependent manner. Indeed, the use of such voltage-sensing domains in protein-based ion channels is central to the electrophysiological AP model, and so is yet another alteration to the earlier Hodgkin-Huxley AP model (Hodgkin et al., 1952a) back when this mechanism was still merely hypothetical.

The other class of molecules in biological membranes which are dipoles are, of course, the lipids. Thus lipids can display voltage-dependent molecular shifts which may alter exposed charged, or partially charged, residues and so can contribute to changes in the capacitance of lipid bilayers (Alvarez et al., 1978). However, Alvarez et al. (1978) notes that the contribution of lipids to voltagedependent capacitance shifts in a phospholipid bilayer was just a small fraction of the capacitance changes reported being due to proteins in biological membranes. One study (Schoch et al., 1979), using asymmetric lipid bilayers found that the capacitance in this system was indeed associated with surface potential changes, and that across a 100 mV bilayer potential shift the capacitance could be altered by up to 0.06%. Ohki (1969), working with phosphatidyl choline and phosphatidyl serine bilayers, found that over an imposed transbilayer potential change of 200 mV, the bilayer capacitance shifted by just  $0.01 \mu F/cm^2$  relative to a base bilayer capacitance of  $0.5 \mu F/cm^2$ . Others (Toyama et al., 1991; Velikonja et al., 2016) also note that the voltage-dependent changes in capacitance that can be attributed to lipids are often lower than that reported to be due to proteins in biological membranes. Thus while lipids are dipole molecules, and do respond to voltage shifts, their influence on changes in capacitance of a bilayer, or of a biological membrane, is suggested by these studies to be much lower than that contributed by the membrane proteins.

Thus the electrophysiological AP model places capacitance changes during the AP as another side effect of the electrical potential changes that happen during the AP, and most of this can be attributed to the sensitivity of protein conformations to the transmembrane voltage, with the lipids perhaps contributing a small amount to the observed voltage-dependent capacitative shift as well. The soliton-AP model takes a different view.

Under the soliton-AP model there is the assumption of something like a liquid-crystalline to gel phase transition in the membrane happening during an AP. This occurs as a physical wave, and this physical wave is suggested to have electrical effects. A shift to a gel phase is known to lead to a thickening of a lipid bilayer (White, 1970; Heimburg, 1998; Heimburg, 2012; Mosgaard et al., 2015; Zecchi et al., 2017), and such thickening was found to lower the capacitance of the bilayer in some settings (Antonov et al., 2003; Heimburg, 2012), as also noted recently by Heimburg (2025). Thus, if a lipid phase change of this sort is indeed happening during an AP, which is one of the major assumptions of the soliton-AP model, that would be expected to result in a lowering of the capacitance of the system due to the gel phase being thicker than the liquid-crystalline phase. However, this is the exact opposite of what is known to happen during an AP, in that, as noted above, during an AP there is a small but real rise in capacitance seen. One way that a liquid-crystalline/gel phase transition might increase the capacitance would be for the base state to be the gel phase, and the transient shift to be to the liquid-crystalline phase, which is the opposite of what the advocates for the soliton-AP model propose to be happening (Heimburg et al., 2005). Thus, the soliton-AP model does not seem to be able to account for the capacitance changes seen during an AP by any thickening assumed to occur during the hypothetical lipid phase transition they propose as the molecular mechanism for their model.

Thus, as an additional proposal some advocates for the soliton-AP model suggest that it is not the thickness of the membrane that matters, but rather the formation of lipid pores during the proposed phase transition which contributes to the rise in capacitance seen during an AP (Heimburg, 2012; Blicher et al., 2013; Zecchi et al., 2017). This would be similar to what is seen during electroporation, during which lipid pore formation can be associated with a rise in capacitance of the system (Freeman et al., 1994). However, as was noted previously (Meissner, 2018), lipid pores are often nonselective, can allow molecules of various sizes to leave the cell, and so are damaging to cells. By altering the content of their membranes to lower the temperatures at which such phase transitions occur to below those normally encountered, cells avoid the stress that comes with such phase transitions, such as stress from the formation of nonselective pores (Melchior et al., 1976). So here again, the advocates for the soliton-AP model are proposing a mechanism which would seem to need careful examination. Does a lipid phase transition actually happen during AP firing, and if so, is there formation of lipid pores during such an event? As we have no clear evidence for such a lipid phase transition, the matter of what lipid pores might contribute is thus a speculation built upon an, as of yet, unsubstantiated assumption.

Another option, which might be consistent with the soliton-AP model is that its presumed lipid phase transition alters the exposure of charged or partially charged residues in the lipids, mainly in the head group region, which might alter the surface charge density of the lipid area and so contribute to changes in capacitance. However, as noted before (Meissner, 2022), any such phase transition-associated change in surface charge density would be highly dependent on the lipid composition of the system. Recall that some lipids have positively charged head group regions, others negatively charged head groups, and still other lipids are neutral. Bilayers, and so biological membranes, made up of different compositional mixtures could then reasonably be expected to display vastly different capacitative changes when a lipid phase transition occurs due to their compositional differences. Thus, if the advocates for the soliton-AP model wish to strengthen their claim that their presumed lipid phase transition alters the system's surface charge density and so account for capacitative changes seen during an AP, then they might wish to explore this in a system which has a composition of lipids very close to that seen in native plasma membranes and not based on just a non-native and artificial pure phospholipid bilayer?

Another way to test the views put forward by these two models with regard to the changes in capacitance seen during an AP might be the following: The electrophysiological AP model accounts for this capacitance change in a voltage-dependent manner, and the magnitude of these changes will vary with the magnitude of the imposed voltage change. Indeed, even a hyperpolarization of the plasma membrane, to a potential which would not induce an AP firing, would be expected to alter

the membrane capacitance to some extent. Therefore, the electrophysiological AP model would suggest that this voltage-dependent capacitance should be found to occur outside of actual AP firings. In contrast, the soliton-AP model suggests that the capacitance changes seen during an AP are tied mainly to events associated with some sort of hypothetical lipid phase transition. If there is no lipid phase transition, then there should be no change in capacitance. Thus, the soliton-AP model seems to imply that an all-or-none capacitance shift should be seen. This matter is open to testing, but recall the previously mentioned work by Bassetto et al. (2023), which upon taking a section of biological membrane through a range of temperatures found no indication of any distinct shift in capacitance that might be associated with a lipid phase change, rather a gradual change in capacitance was seen. The advocates for the soliton-AP model might wish to repeat such work, but also consider applying transmembrane voltage shifts, to see if they can detect any step-like shifts in capacitance which would be consistent with their claim of a lipid phase transition happening during APs.

What should we conclude

Taking the above information as a whole, the electrophysiological AP model has a clear and verified mechanism to account for the capacitance changes seen during APs; that of voltagedependent protein conformation changes producing "gating currents" with voltage-dependent changes in lipid arrangements contributing a smaller amount. In contrast, the soliton-AP model is assuming that an, as of yet, unverified phase transition occurs during AP firings. But a problem here is that a liquid-crystalline to gell lipid phase transition would be expected to thicken the membrane and thus lower the capacitance, as Heimburg (2025) notes, and so that feature of this hypothetical lipid phase transition can not account for the rise in capacitance actually seen during APs. Also, if the argument is that with a phase transition surface charge density changes occur in the lipid areas of a membrane, that would be highly dependent on composition. And so there would be a need for studies of capacitance changes in model membrane systems in which the composition reflects that seen in an excitable system. Or, the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model may suggest that during this hypothetical lipid phase transition there is lipid pore formation which would then account for this rise in capacitance. Just how the cell is to survive what is effectively electroporation with each and every AP firing under their model is an issue that they have not addressed. In any event, we are presented with two models each proposing ways to account for the rise in capacitance during AP firings, one is well verified and another which is largely speculative at this time. Therefore, the preponderance of the current evidence with regard to a rise in capacitance during an AP seems to support the current electrophysiological AP model.

#### Concerning Membrane Width and Optical Property Changes

As reviewed previously (Meissner, 2018, 2022), it has long been known that associated with an AP there is a widening of the plasma membrane and that changes in its optical features occur, including changes in its birefringence, light retardation, and ability to scatter light (Cohen, 1973). It is interesting to consider how these features are viewed differently under the electrophyisological AP model versus under the soliton-AP model.

Under the soliton-AP model the thickening of the membrane by about one nanometer during an AP is attributed to something like a liquid-crystalline to gel phase transition happening in the plasma membrane, which this model assumes is the causative basis for an AP and many of its features (Heimburg et al., 2005). An alternative, of course, might be that electrostriction of some sort, operating on a biological membrane, or a lipid bilayer, might also alter either the width of the system or realign the lipid dipolar molecules so as to create changes in its optical features. However, studies have found that application of trans-bilayer potential shifts to a lipid bilayer is unlikely to alter its thickness significantly (Alvarez et al., 1978), nor will it greatly alter the optical properties of a lipid bilayer (Berestovsky et al., 1970). Thus, the soliton-AP model claims to account for the thickening as due to a presumed lipid phase transition, and this they suggest is supported by the finding that DPPC bilayers do show about a one nanometer shift in thickness between a liquid-crystalline and gel set of

phases (Heimburg, 1998, Heimburg, 2007; Appali et al., 2012). As reviewed earlier (Meissner, 2018), the lipid alignment changes which occur with this phase shift are reported to alter the optical properties of such a bilayer as well (Heimburg, 2007). This claim that these features of an AP can be accounted for by a major lipid phase transition thus makes it all the more necessary for the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model to show evidence that a phase transition actually occurs during an AP. On this point, we might be wise to recall Heimburg's own statement (2007, pg. 311), where he noted that these sorts of features "... should be taken as a hint toward the existence of transitions during the nerve pulse but not as a final proof," and so to ask, as good scientists should, for actual evidence in support of this major assumption of the soliton-AP model that these AP features result from a major lipid phase transition as its molecular mechanism.

In contrast, the current widely accepted electrophysiological AP model suggests that the observed changes in the width and optical properties during an AP may be the result of the influence of the transmembrane potential changes which happen during the AP acting on the dipole molecules of the membrane, and most especially acting on the membrane proteins. Thus, as noted previously (Meissner, 2018), there are studies which note that voltage-dependent conformational shifts of many membrane proteins occur (Zhang et al., 2018), and show that in some cases these shifts in the proteins are in the range of 0.5-1.5 nm (Bae et al., 2015; Islas, 2016; Bezanilla, 2018). Thus, shifts in the transmembrane potential are argued to alter the force imposed on the dipole molecules in the plasma membrane (Brownell et al., 2010). This shift in these membrane proteins would seem to be able to account for the widening reported to happen in the plasma membrane during an action potential (El Hady et al., 2015; Alcami et al., 2019). The change in light scattering which is reported to occur during APs is also noted to be associated with changes in the membrane potential (Perachia et al., 1971; Stepnoski et al., 1991). Thus, the electrophysiological AP model would suggest that a large transmembrane potential shift should have influences on the membrane dipole molecules of which proteins are the most dipolar and the most flexible.

These two models present very different views of the change in membrane width and changes in membrane optical features associated with APs. One way to test between these views would be to consider what each predicts. The electrophysiological AP model would suggest that the changes in width and optical features would be proportional to the extent of the transmembrane potential changes applied. Thus even changes in the membrane potential which would not induce an AP would be expected to produce influences on these associated features. The application of hyperpolarization treatments to the plasma membrane would thus not be expected to induce an AP firing, but would be expected to induce these sorts of shifts in protein conformational changes and so alter the optical features of the membrane. Such findings have been reported in several studies (Cohen et al., 1971; Tasaki, 1982; Oh et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2017). On the other hand, the soliton-AP model, while perhaps allowing that some small shifts of membrane dipole molecules in response to membrane potential shifts might occur, would seem to predict that these shifts in optical features and membrane width should be observed in association with a major lipid phase transition, and so under this model with a soliton-based AP. This view would seem to suggest that such a shift should thus be discrete, and should occur in a sudden fashion, as the lipid phase changes the soliton-AP model assumes to be happening are not partial events. Thus, the soliton-AP model might predict, if somehow a sudden lipid phase transition was induced that this would impose a sudden shift in membrane capacitance, membrane width, and membrane optical features in a distinct step-like manner, but only during actual AP firing. However, the lack of a pure phospholipid bilayer to show responses to a shift in transbilayer voltage was reported by Berestovsky et al. (1970, pg. 263) who, on examining this issue using a phospholipid bilayer under voltage clamp, noted; "On unmodified bimolecular membranes any optic effects under 100 mV voltage were not detected." That finding would seem to argue against a role for a transmembrane potential change to induce a lipid phase shift. More tests on these issues would, of course, be welcome, but there seems to be a clear path here for the advocates of the soliton-AP model to do tests which have a potential to give evidence in

support of, or which might refute, their model, if they have the courage to make and report on such tests, as opposed to having the courage just to make assumptions.

What should we conclude

In terms then of the structural shifts seen in the plasma membrane during an AP, there seems to be much evidence which is consistent with the electrophysiological AP model's requirement that with changes in transmembrane potential changes in membrane molecular alignment and conformations occur. Thus, we may conclude that these features are likely voltage-dependent to a large extent. Concerning the soliton-AP model's prediction that these features are due to a major lipid phase transition, similar to a liquid-crystalline to gel transition, we are in a similar position to what was encountered in our consideration of capacitance shifts during APs in that the argument put forward by the advocates for the soliton-AP model would be much stronger IF they first presented actual evidence for such a lipid phase transition happening during an AP. Instead, their argument seems to be, once again, implying that these circumstantial features should be taken as evidence in the place of actual detection of their model's presumed lipid phase transition. This argument is not very compelling for two reasons. First, these features are rather well accounted for under the electrophysiological AP model, so strong evidence would seem to be needed to compel us to reject those findings. Second, as Heimburg (2007, pg. 311) himself noted, mere association should not be taken as "proof," and so it would seem reasonable to ask for clear and compelling evidence that a major lipid phase transition actually happens during an AP before considering what consequences it might have. To do otherwise would seem to be arguing ahead of the available evidence.

#### On the Electrical Features of the AP

Of course the AP displays a distinctive pattern of electrical potential changes (Hodgkin et al., 1945), with a rapid initial depolarization phase, followed by a longer and slower hyperpolarization phase, before returning to the normal transmembrane resting potential (Hille, 2001; Massey et al., 2022). Thus, while the advocates for the soliton-AP model point out, quite rightly, that more seems to be going on during an AP than just this pattern of electrical changes (Heimburg et al., 2005), this pattern of electrical potential changes is still a major feature of an AP. Therefore, any model which attempts to account for AP features should reasonably be expected to offer a means to account for this AP pattern of electrical changes, as well as accounting for any other features that it might also choose to address. Therefore, let us next consider first how the electrophysiological AP model accounts for the typical AP pattern of electrical changes, and then consider how the soliton-AP model attempts to account for this pattern as well.

Based on early evidence, it was concluded that AP transmission is done through the spread of electrical field changes (Hodgkin, 1937a, 1937b). The modern electrophysiological AP model makes use of the reported and well replicated finding that during an AP in neurons there is an initial transient rise in membrane permeability, typically to Na+, followed later by a slower transient rise in K<sup>+</sup> permeability (Hodgkin et al., 1949a, 1952b, 1952c, 1952d, 1952e; Shepherd, 1988a; Hille, 2001). The discovery of voltage-gated protein-based ion channels and the study of their properties (Neher et al., 1976, 1982; Sigworth et al., 1980; Chiu et al., 1982; Auerbach et al., 1984; Jackson, 1984; Sakmann et al., 1984; Stern et al., 1990; Begenisich, 1992; Jones et al., 1994; Ayer et al., 1997; Cha et al., 1997; Thiel et al., 1997; Doyle et al., 1998; Sonnleitner et al., 2002; Cardnell et al., 2006; Valiyaveetil et al., 2006; Bean, 2007; Lorincz et al., 2010; Schroeter et al., 2010; Jensen et al., 2012; Kariev et al., 2012; Braun, 2013; de Lera Ruiz et al., 2015; Islas, 2016; Kim et al., 2016b; Kratochvil et al., 2016; Whicher et al., 2016; Catterall, 2017; Ma et al., 2017; Roux, 2017; Shen et al., 2017, 2018, 2019; McClintock et al., 2018; Pal et al., 2018; Pan et al., 2018, 2019; Touska et al., 2018; Wulf et al., 2018; Clairfeuille et al., 2019; Schewe et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019; Chakrabarti et al., 2024) has been broadly accepted to account for this classically observed change in membrane permeability during an AP. This pattern of change in permeability, coupled with the electrochemical energy gradients for Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> across the plasma membrane, thus lead during an AP to there being an initial inward Na<sup>+</sup> current, followed by a slightly

longer and lower K<sup>+</sup> outward current. That such currents occur has been well documented (Hodgkin et al., 1952b; Hodgkin et al., 1955; Cole et al., 1960; Narahashi, 1965; Guttman et al., 1970; Hille, 2001; Carter et al., 2009; Fleidervish et al., 2010). This movement of ions across the membrane has electrical consequences, in a manner consistent with the law of conservation of charge, Ohm's law, and with the Maxwell equations (Jackson, 1999; Lucht, 2014). Thus, after assembling the initial measurements of the ionic currents which were reported, the resistances measured to be involved, and other related electrical features of the neuron, Hodgkin and Huxley (1952a) were able to confirm that this set of information, with some additional assumptions, was adequate to allow for the deriving of an initial set of empirical equations which could model many of the electrical features of the AP. Concering these equations, a common mistake often made by some (Carrillo, 2025) is to refer to these equations as "the" Hodgkin-Huxley AP model. But it should be noted that Hodgkin and Huxley (1952a) themselves state that merely deriving such an empirical equation set was not proof that it was the only way to describe an AP, and they emphasized that the equations they presented were mainly used to test the adequacy of the state of knowledge at that time and so test their model. Thus the Hodgkin and Huxley model is not the equations, but rather the descriptive narrative of cause and effect links they discovered, and so the specific equations are not of critical importance. Indeed, many other versions of equations have been derived to account for various features of APs, for instance see Sangrey et al. (2004). Therefore, what is important is not the equations per say, but that the electrophysiological AP model has evidence for the transmembrane ion movements and other features which it takes as the basis for production of the pattern of electrical potential shifts seen during an AP and also can be related to each ion's transmembrane electrochemcial energy gradient which drive the ion flows in a manner consistent with the law of conservation of energy. Later it was found that these ion flows can be related to the properties of the voltage-gated protein-based ion channels in the membrane. This is a brief outline of how the electrophysiological AP model accounts for the electrical features of an AP.

Next, let us consider how the soliton-AP model (Heimburg et al., 2005) would account for the pattern of shifts in electrical potential seen across an AP. Under this model it is proposed that the hypothesized lipid phase transition has as one of its effects an alteration of the density of the lipids per area on each face of the membrane. This is suggested to alter the surface charge density, and with the two faces of the membranes being different in composition then a difference in the surface charge density change on one face versus the other may result during a lipid phase transition which is assumed to happen in both membrane faces during an AP. Thus, surface potential changes are proposed to occur during the presumed lipid phase transition which the soliton-AP model assumes happens, and this difference in surface potential shifts on the two membrane faces is how this model proposes to account for the electrical pattern we see during an AP (Heimburg et al., 2006; Fichtl et al., 2016; Mussel et al., 2019, 2021; Meissner, 2022). Here it has been suggested (Heimburg et al., 2006, pg. 8) that: "... it seems plausible that mechanical solitons can generate voltage changes comparable to those observed during the action potential. The exact values remain to be determined by experiment." Oddly, this experimental determination, to which Heimburg et al. (2006) refers, seems to have not yet been reported by the advocates of the soliton-AP model? There are obvious experiments which might be done to test this claim, as noted in Meissner (2022), but results of any such tests have not yet been reported. Therefore, a major assumption being made here is that surface potential changes, which might well happen during any presumed lipid phase transition event (if one actually occurs), would have macroscopic effects and be observable as transmembrane potential changes. It is thus largely through this untested and unconfirmed assumption, of surface potentials being macroscopic in their influence, that the soliton-AP model attempts to account for the pattern of electrical features seen during a typical AP. Let us examine this issue further.

That APs are macroscopic in their electrical influence is well supported by the reported data. For instance, Heimburg's own lab group positioned electrodes at some distance away from an isolated nerve bundle and were able to detect the passage of compound APs in it, even though the electrodes were many micrometers to millimeters away from the cells producing the compound APs (Gonzalez-

Perez et al., 2014). EEG recordings of the AP activity activities in brain tissue are commonly done even though these electrodes are many cell diameters away from the actual cells producing the APs (Cavanagh, 2018). Thus the ability for APs to be monitored by microelectrodes at a considerable distance away from an excitable membrane indicates that APs have a macroscopic influence. One question then, is whether surface potential changes can also be detected by positioning microelectrodes at such distances away from the cell membrane.

Thus, while it has been reported that with a phase transition in a phospholipid bilayer there can be changes in surface potentials (Träuble et al., 1974), two problems with the soliton-AP model's attempt to use surface potentials to account for the electrical features seen in an AP, as described previously (Meissner, 2022), are that surface potentials are well known to just be microscopic in nature only extending out about a nanometer, and also that surface potentials are noted to be distinct from the transmembrane potential seen across biological membranes (Beitinger et al., 1989; Wang, 2012; Galassi et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2022). The short distance of influence of surface potentials is noted to be related to the dipole nature of water and ions which by shielding surface potentials often limit surface potential effects to about one nanometer or less under physiological conditions (Klausen et al., 2016; Meissner, 2022). Thus, for a surface potential to have its influence extend over a considerable distance the surrounding medium must not contain dipole molecules, such as water or ions, rather only when examined in air or vacuum are the influences of surface potentials often seen to be able to spread out to micrometer to millimeter distances. So with the influence of surface potentials only extending a nanometer or so outward in physiological conditions, microelectrodes are typically unable to detect surface potentials, and other methods are used to detect surface potentials (Mesquida et al., 2018; Meissner, 2022). Thus APs are macroscopic and taken to reflect transmembrane potential changes, while surface potential shifts are microscopic and seem to be unable to account for the macroscopic electrical features of the AP.

None of the above is meant to dismiss the importance of surface potentials or their influence on membrane properties. For instance, recall that in the above consideration of membrane capacitance changes during APs it was noted how surface potential changes can be one means to account for changes seen in membrane capacitance. Also, changes in surface potentials are reported to be able to influence the activities of membrane or local peripheral proteins (Beitinger et al., 1989; Goldenberg et al., 2010; Wang, 2012; Zhou et al., 2022; Westendorff et al., 2024) and so may have a variety of effects. The intent here is to point out that for the soliton-AP model to depend on surface potential shifts to account for the pattern of electrical changes seen during an AP there is an assumption being made that surface potentials, under physiological conditions, have macroscopic influences. No evidence in support this assumption seems to have yet been presented, and so this challenges the soliton-AP model's ability to account for known AP electrical features.

#### What should we conclude

So in attempting to account for just the pattern of electrical potential changes seen during a typical AP, these two models offer very different views. The electrophysiological AP model is well supported by reproducible findings, and operates in a manner consistent with known physical laws and principles. In contrast, the soliton-AP model, again, builds on its as of yet unconfirmed assumption that the AP is based on a lipid phase transition, and adds in addition the assumption that surface potential changes would contribute to transmembrane potential shifts, and so act in a macroscopic manner and thus be able to account for the electrical features of an AP. Thus, to have these claims for the soliton-AP model accepted much more evidence about surface potentials and their influences would need to be presented by the advocates of this model. Several obvious tests along these lines were presented earlier (Meissner, 2022), but, so far, no positive results of such tests have been reported. Without such positive findings, the proposal that surface potential changes have macroscopic influences seems to be without factual support and so is a mere unconfirmed hypothesis. In contrast, the electrophysiological AP model, as noted above, has much supportive evidence on its side. Thus, we are faced, again, with a well supported model with strong evidence behind it on the one hand, and a set of conjectures not yet demonstrated to be valid on the other. Until that situation

changes, the electrophysiological AP model's accounting of the electrical features of the AP should continue to be accepted.

#### About the Hypothesis of AP Wave Length

As mentioned previously, one of the differences between the electrophysiological AP model and the soliton-AP model is how they arrange events in terms of cause-and-effect in each case. The electrophysiological AP model has the electrical potential changes which occur as the cause of various physical changes seen during an AP (Cohen, 1973; El Hady et al., 2015). In contrast, the soliton-AP model assumes that the AP is a physical wave, based on a presumed traveling lipid phase transition, and claims that one of the side effects of this physical wave is the electrical features of an action potential (Heimburg et al., 2006; Heimburg, 2025). Thus, these two models differ in how they arrange AP events in terms of cause-and-effect. Here we will consider yet another area where this inversion of cause-and-effect seems to occur, and note how the assumption that the AP is a physical wave applies to just one of these two models and not to the other.

In his recent article, Heimburg (2025) suggests that if the AP is indeed a physical wave, then the full pattern of electrical potential changes seen across the AP would be assumed to represent one cycle of that physical wave. What this implies is that at one point along an axon the membrane potential may be at one point in the cycle of the AP electrical pattern, while at another point further down the axon, the membrane potential would be different as the AP "wave" would be at a different point along its wavelength. Heimburg (2025, see his Eq. 1) then suggests that given a typical duration of an AP, and a typical AP velocity, this implies that this hypothetical physical wave would be in many cases rather long. Depending on AP duration and velocity, estimates of a presumed wavelength for the AP from 4 mm to 51 cm are suggested by Heimburg (2025), and he goes on to note that this would be much longer than the length of many of the neurons in which the AP occurs! This, he then claims, implies that under his soliton-AP model an AP may be a multicellular phenomenon, as it would not, apparently, fit within a single cell. One odd thing here is, if the AP is truly to be considered to be a wave as long or longer then the neuron in which it occurs, then why does Heimburg often present an illustration of a soliton-AP as happening only in a small fraction of the length of an axon (for instance, see Heimburg, 2025, his Fig. 15)? Another oddity, is that there are clear reports of APs examined in cells grown in cell culture, and so are isolated from other cells (Stepnoski et al., 1991; Batabyal et al., 2017), which implies that in many cases the AP does fit within a single cell. This would seem to challenge Heimburg's (2025) suggestion that APs are often larger than the cell which generates them?

It should be noted that the electrophysiological AP model does not view an AP as a physical wave, rather this model views an AP as an electrical field shift which happens to have some physical effects which are considered to be secondary in nature (El Hady et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2018; Ling et al., 2020). According to the electrophysiological AP model in a myelinated axon all the events relating to ion current flow needed for the generation of the full pattern of electrical changes during an AP occur at one node, and are not displaced over space, in contrast to what is suggested by Heimburg (2025). Thus, unlike the above soliton-AP model, there is no physical wave happening under the electrophysiological AP model. Rather, under the electrophysiological AP model an electrical field shift at a node in a myelinated axon would need to have enough influence to alter the electrical potential at the next node to induce the firing of a new AP at that next node. The extent of the influence of this electrical field over distance depends on the nature of the medium present, in this case the cytosol and the extracellular solution in the tissue. Water, ions, and any dipole molecules in these solutions can significantly alter the influence of a local electrical shift across distance. Electrophysiologists account for this via the resistance of the medium and of the membrane, and by its capacitance, all of which influence how far and how rapidly an electrical field shift can extend its influence. These aspects of the electrophysiological AP have been studied and are well documented (Taskai, 1939; Huxley et al., 1949; Frankenhaeuser et al., 1964; Gentet et al., 2000). If, for whatever reason, the electrical field shift is too weak to sufficiently influence the voltage-sensitive protein-

based ion channels at the next node, then no new AP will be fired at that next node. Or if the voltage-sensing protein-based ion channels at the next node are inhibited in some manner so that they can not respond, then the electrical field of the AP from one node would have to extend to another node further down the axon and its influence there will be lower and slower due to the added distance. This is not at all like a physical wave which would just keep traveling, showing little or no diminishment with distance. Instead, this might be viewed as analogous to light from a light bulb which decreases in intensity with distance, and so becomes less able to induce, say, a light sensor which requires a certain threshold of light intensity to activate a system to turn on a new light bulb at a new location. Notice then, that in this view, and AP is not a physical wave, and does not have an inherent wavelength. All the events needed for the full pattern of electrical changes seen during an AP occur at one location without movement of any physical wave down the axon.

Thus the soliton-AP model by viewing the AP as a physical wave, and by suggesting that it does not dissipate with distance (Heimburg, 2025) is taking a very different view compared to the electrophysiological AP model which views the AP as an electrical field which does attenuate with distance.

With regard then to his proposal that an AP is a physical wave of large size, Heimburg (2025; pg. 3) suggests that this makes it possible to view the AP as a "macroscopic" event, "... and that for this reason a macroscopic thermodynamic treatment of the nerve membrane properties is justified." The good Prof. Heimburg does not state explicitly just what macroscopic thermodynamic style of analysis he would suggest to be possible for a macroscopic process versus not possible for a microscopic one, or why a phenomenon needs to be macroscopic in size to "justify" the use of thermodynamics? This leaves a reader with the impression that perhaps he is implying that thermodynamics does not apply to microscopic events? If so, that would be a rather odd suggestion, since there are thermodynamic studies with regard to a variety of processes done at the molecular level (Flodgaard et al., 1974; Gluick et al., 1994; Brauchi et al., 2004; Khvorostyanov et al., 2004; Sehgal et al., 2006; Curnow et al., 2007; Isom et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2014; Zhao, 2015; Smith et al., 2016), not to mention studies of the thermodynamics of lipid bilayer phase transitions (Heimburg, 1998; Matsuki et al., 2019), which are surely thermodynamic studies of microscopic events at the molecular level. With regard to one thermodynamic study of the AP, done in a manner which does not seem to require any assumption as to the physical size of the AP, there is the work done by Hodgkin et al. (1949b). Hodgkin et al. (1949b) were able to determine the temperature sensitivity of the initial rapid depolarization part of the AP versus that of the later slower hyperpolarization stage of the AP. They report that these two parts of an AP display very different temperature sensitivities, and so have different Q10 values. The electrophysicological AP model notes that these two parts of the AP are each dominated by distinct voltage-gated protein-based ion channels, first a Na<sup>+</sup> channel and then a K<sup>+</sup> channel (Hille, 2001), and this suggests that one reason for the difference in the Q10 values in these two AP stages may be due to the involvement of different proteins each with a different temperature sensitivity. Thus Hodgkin et al. (1949b) is a thermodynamic study, of a microscopic system, which tells us something about events during AP firing. Just how the soliton-AP model would account for the finding made by Hodgkin et al. (1949b), that there are different Q10 values at different stages of an AP, is a thermodynamic question which the advocates of the soliton-AP model seem to not have addressed. But this article by Hodgkin et al. (1949b) is perhaps a good illustration of a thermodynamic study of aspects of the AP which seems to be valid without having to assume that the AP is a physically large wave. Thus why Heimburg (2025) seems to imply a need for APs to be physically macroscopic to justify their study via thermodynamic methods is a bit unclear.

What should we conclude

Recall that the soliton-AP model assumes that a lipid phase transition occurs in association with an AP. Heimburg (2025) is next noting an implication of this phase transition acting as a physical wave in that like all waves it would have a wavelength. Thus we are, once again, seeing assumption placed on top of assumption without first being presented with any clear evidence that the initial assumption is valid. In any event, any features or limitations that this AP-as-a-physical-wave

assumption imposes would seem to apply to the soliton-AP model alone, and have no apparent relevance to the electrophysiological AP model which considers the AP not to be a physical wave. Contrast this with the evidence noted above for how the electrophysiological AP model would account for how one AP fired at one location has, through its electrical field shifts, the ability to influence the firing of a new AP further down an axon. Thus, we have, again, a hypothesis without clear evidence, versus another which has evidence reported which supports it. Therefore, once again, these speculations from the soliton-AP model, while interesting on some levels, should not be accepted until there is clear evidence presented for them. The most important evidence in this case, which is still lacking, being actual evidence that a major lipid phase transition happens during an AP.

#### Concerning the Mechanical Synapse Hypothesis

Along with his claim that an AP is a large physical wave, Heimburg (2025) now also claims that a lipid liquid-crystalline to gel phase change during an AP would contract the length of the plasma membrane significantly. Based on his calculations Heimburg (2025; pg. 10) states; "We obtain a change in length of the total axon of 2.58 cm..." in one case, and for another suggests there should be "... a contraction of the axon by 1.44 cm..." In an attempt to support this claim, Heimburg (2025) notes work (Tasaki et al., 1980, 1982, 1989) which reports that longitudinal contractions of from 5 nm up to 80 nm have been observed during AP firings in isolated nerve tissues. Obviously a contraction of 80 nm is quite different from that of 1-2 cm which is what Heimburg (2025) suggests should occur, and on this point Heimburg (2025, pg. 11) states; "This is much less than what the soliton theory predicts but it is qualitatively in the same direction." In this way Heimburg (2025) attempts to account for a six order of magnitude difference between what is predicted and what is observed! It might be reasonable to suggest that such a difference between prediction and observation alone might be enough to bring the prediction into question? Heimburg's suggestion that a contraction of hundreds of micrometers to centimeters should occur with every AP firing in many neurons would seem to be easily checked by a rather basic direct and simple observation. Yet Heimburg (2025) himself offers no direct evidence of such an event of the magnitude he suggests, but rather makes the assumption that this would occur based on the soliton-AP model's previous assumption that a major lipid phase transition happens during APs.

Another problem with Heimburg's (2025) argument, that there is significant contraction of a cell during AP firings, is that Tasaki et al. (1982, 1989) showed that the contractions observed occur on a longer time scale than that of the immediate AP, and that summation can occur across several AP firings. Indeed, Tasaki et al. (1989, pg. 1036) notes this where they state; "The duration of the mechanical responses recorded in this manner was considerably longer than the mechanical changes recorded in the transverse direction." The transverse swelling being associated with individual AP firings and not showing this longitudinally-related summation. And in earlier work Tasaki et al. (1982, pg. 1438) notes; "This period is far longer than the time required for propagation of an impulse along the 20 mm long portion of the nerve (approximately 5 msec)." Therefore, Tasaki et al. (1990) notes that the summed changes in length from several AP firings can add up and occur over a much longer time scale than does any single AP firing. Thus, if the electrical features of the AP, as suggested under the soliton-AP model, are to be coupled to a presumed change in lipid phase states and so coupled to its likely radial change in width (Heimburg et al., 2006), and if longitudinal contractions of the axon are now also to be coupled to this same assumed lipid phase transition (Heimburg, 2025), then they should all be expected to share the same temporal pattern. Since they do not, that implies different mechanisms are perhaps operating? One mechanism which is suggested by Tasaki et al. (1990) is that ion entry into the axon may have effects on the cytoskeleton, or effects on the colloidallike cytosol (Tasaki et al., 1982), and notes that these may help account for the volume change found to occur in an axon with multiple AP firings (Tasaki et al., 1990). It should be noted that Heimburg's (2025) calculations of what his soliton-AP model might predict in terms of axon contraction with AP firing assumed a constant cell volume; an assumption which seems to be contradicted by observation (Cohen, 1973; Tasaki et al., 1982, 1990). Thus, Heimburg's (2025) calculations seem to be at odds with

observed magnitudes of contraction, with the observed temporal patterns, and are based on assumptions which have not, yet, been found to be supported by actual data from actual measurements.

Having put forward an argument for the AP to be a physical wave which extends across many centimeters, and for its being accompanied by a significant physical shortening in axon length, Heimburg (2025, pg. 6) then suggests an implication of this with regard to synapses: "In a hydrodynamic picture of the nerve pulse, the pulse might not see a synapse at all and will cross the distance of the synaptic gap with the speed of the soliton because the synapse itself is part of a macroscopic motion." Thus, Heimburg (2025) proposes a new "mechanical synapse" concept for consideration. The previous concepts of synaptic connections include both electrical and chemical synapses (Shepherd, 1988b; Hormuzdi et al., 2004; Koester et al., 2005; Sanes et al., 2006; Perea et al., 2007; Bissiere et al., 2011; Haas et al., 2011; Hestrin, 2011; Sylwestrak et al., 2012; O'Brien, 2014; Favuzzi et al., 2019; Groc et al., 2020; Cárdenas-García et al., 2024; Vandael et al., 2024) and it may be noted that there can be variation in speeds of transmission across different chemical synaptic types as well (Greengard, 2001). Whether Heimburg (2025) is proposing a mechanical synapse in addition to these already well established synaptic types, or if he is suggesting to sweep them aside in favor of his new concept of mechanical synapses is unclear from his article. Heimburg (2025, pg. 12) claims support for his concept of a mechanical synapse by stating: "Mechanical motion of the synapse in the nanometer range has in fact directly been measured in mammalian nerve terminals (Kim et al., 2007)." We will next, therefore, consider this work by Kim et al. (2007), and find that this claim by Heimburg seems not to be upheld.

The suggestion by Heimburg (2025) that Kim et al. (2007) examined events at the synapses between neurons seems to be a mischaracterization of the work by Kim et al. (2007). That work examined the neurohypophysis tissue, which is noted to be a neurosecretory structure for the release of hormones into the blood stream, and so AP induced secretion was the focus of that work and not AP transmission across synapses, as secretion into the bloodstream is distinct from cell-to-cell synaptic connections. Furthermore, nowhere in Kim et al. (2007) is there any mention made of mechanical distentions in the longitudinal orientation, rather the increase is in radial thickness (i.e., vertically or transversely). This rise in thickness is described by Kim et al. (2007) to be dependent on the presence of extracellular Na+ and so is suggested to be an osmotic effect, as is supported by the following reported observation (Kim et al., 2007, pg. 3124): "The disproportionate decrease in amplitude of the mechanical spike and the broadening of the signal in the reduced-Na<sup>+</sup> Ringer's solution are evident." It is true, as Heimburg (2025) claims, that Kim et al. (2007) noted that a swelling of about 5 nm was observed across this tissue upon AP arrival to it, but this was a vertical swelling, not a longitudinal one, and also in this work there was summation across many cells and so this should not be taken as an observation at the single cell level. This is indicated where Kim et al. (2007, pg. 3126) notes that they were working at the tissue level and states: "Since the tissue probably owes its thickness to a stack of ~100 terminals, this deflection may reflect an increase in diameter of as little as  $0.05\,\mathrm{nm}\,(0.5\,\mathrm{\AA})$  in a single terminal." Thus the vertical displacement (i.e., "an increase in diameter") is suggested by Kim et al. (2007, pg. 3126) to be very small when considered at the cellular level, and that it may be accounted for by osmotic effects which are expected to arise with AP arrival and secretory actions in this tissue. Thus, Heimburg's (2025) claims concerning the meaning of the evidence presented by Kim et al. (2007) appears to be unsupported by what is actually presented there, as Kim et al. (2007) do not report any observation of longitudinal contractions happening at cell-to-cell synaptic areas.

#### What should we conclude

Given that under the electrophysiological AP model the AP is not considered to be a physical wave, all of Heimburg's (2025) comments about how a physical wave-based AP may or may not fit into a single cell, or about the contraction in length that it might induce, would seem to be issues which only the soliton-AP model should be expected to address. But our good Prof. Heimburg has not offered compelling evidence based on actual observations that such a major contraction actually

occurs in reality. Nor has he offered support for his implication that some sort of "mechanical synapse" operates to allow the transmission of an AP from an axon terminus into a dendritic arm of the next neuron. Rather, starting with his assumption of a major lipid phase change as the basis for an AP, an implication of a longitudinal contraction is said to be expected. The fact that no contraction of the magnitude he suggests has in fact been reported, would seem to be a major reason for rejecting this suggestion, as it seems odd to propose that neurobiologists who have long observed neurons *in vivo*, *in situ*, and in cell culture would have to be assumed to have somehow not noticed AP-associated neuron contractions in the 0.1-10 mm range? This proposed magnitude of contraction should be visible to the naked eye, or easily seen under a common dissecting microscopy. Which implies that our good Prof. Heimburg should have little difficulty obtaining actual direct observational evidence in this case? Heimburg's (2025) mischaracterization of the work reported in Kim et al. (2007), who reported vertical shifts rather than longitudinal ones, simply adds additional doubt to the argument he presents.

This all seems to suggest that such incredible belief is placed in the soliton-AP model that any implication derived from it is given high levels of confidence, without any testing of such items being done or even being suggested to need to be done. Thus, we are brought to a consideration of standards of evidence: Heimburg offers no actual evidence of lipid phase shifts, only a theoretical conjecture, but one in which he has such high confidence that he apparently thinks that alone should compel its acceptance. In science we should be willing to go where rigorous evidence forces us to go, but we must insist on having actual reproducible evidence presented. In this case, where no compelling evidence is presented, there can be no acceptance of the stated claims, at this time.

#### On Energy Issues and the AP Passage Hypothesis

Another aspect of the soliton-AP model which deserves some attention is the energy shift needed to initiate the sort of lipid phase change that this model assumes is happening during an AP. Both Heimburg et al. (2006) and Mosgaard et al. (2015) present estimates of the energy change per mole of lipid which would be expected with a liquid-crystalline to gel phase transition. They base their calculations on a DPPC lipid bilayer's phase transition, and note the temperature of melting (Tm) at which the free energy change for this lipid phase change would be zero, and so phase transitions would be likely to happen at that temperature. Obviously the further the actual temperature is from this  $T_m$  value then a larger level of energy change would be needed to induce a lipid phase transition (Heimburg, 2023). In this way an estimate of the energy shift needed for a lipid phase transition to be possible at a temperature other than the T<sub>m</sub> of the system can be made. Of course the energy for this might come from any of a number of sources, and Heimburg (2022a) does describe several possibilities, none of which are as of yet confirmed. However, it should be noted that a plasma membrane is not a DPPC bilayer, and a plasma membrane's T<sub>m</sub>, if it has one, as well as enthalpy and entropy of any phase transition, may be different from what Heimburg et al. (2006) and Mosgaard et al. (2015) assume by using values from a DPPC bilayer. But at least the use of a DPPC bilayer as a base model can give an initial estimate of the energy change for such a system in terms of joules per mole of phase transitioning lipid. Where the energy to induce this presumed lipid phase shift in a plasma membrane would come from is an issue that the soliton-AP model does not explicitly address, and so how the energy is to be supplied to achieved this presumed phase transition is still unclear.

Be that as it may, obviously if the plasma membrane of a neuron has a T<sub>m</sub> which might be taken to be ten or more degrees C away from the normal body temperature, which is what the advocates for the soliton-AP model suggest (Mužić et al., 2019), then the greater the difference in ambient temperature from this T<sub>m</sub> the higher of an energy shift would need to be arranged to induce a soliton-based AP firing under the soliton-AP model. Also, if more lipid molecules are to engage in this transition, then the energy demand goes up; note that the estimates made by Heimburg et al. (2006) and Mosgaard et al (2015) are for energy per mole of lipid transition, so more lipid molecules transitioning implies a higher total energy cost. Thus, when Heimburg (2025) suggests that the proposed lipid transition thought to occur during an AP may cover many centimeters of cell length,

that would seem to imply that the total energy shift needed to induce a phase transition across that much of the cell all at once would need to be much larger? Where does that energy come from?

Consider also how cell morphology may influence this energy demand. Axons are known to branch many times (Catalano et al., 1995; Wittner et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2008; Economo et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2024), and so if we assume one soliton-wave based on a lipid phase transition is happening in a neuron's axon, by moving down that axon it may well end up going into perhaps a hundred branches of that axon to many termini. Thus one soliton based on a traveling lipid phase transition would need to result in over a hundred such waves of transition all being produced in this same cell. This expands the number of lipid molecules involved greatly, so where does the energy shift needed for this come from? Pissadaki et al. (2013) did an analysis which suggests that there would be expected to be a rise in energy cost per AP transmission with more branching of a cell. We are also told that under the soliton-AP model this presumed lipid phase transition wave should be adiabatic and self perpetuating, with no net heat (Heimburg, 2025). So if such a soliton comes to a branch in an axon, as it should, does the energy of the original soliton wave somehow get divided in half so that each branch now has a soliton with a lower energy content per mole of lipid transitioned? Or does the soliton-AP model suggest that somehow there is an energy adjustment made at each axon branch point so that the original energy of the soliton per mole of phase transitioned lipid is maintained? If so, how would that be done in an adiabatic manner? Thus, there are questions of energy relations here which the soliton-AP model seems not to have addressed explicitly.

Going further, consider a case where we have a single neuron grown in cell culture which displays APs, but which is an isolated cell and so has no synapses onto other cells and none onto itself from other cells. Also consider the concept of a soliton wave-based AP which should pass through other APs upon collision (Heimburg, 2025). We might envision an AP moving down the axon, as Heimburg (2025, see his Fig. 15) presents it, as a cylinder of lipid phase transition moving as a physical wave. When it gets to an axon terminus this soliton comes in from all sides of this cylindrical wave and effectively collides with itself at the cell terminus. According to Heimburg (2025), and others (Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2014), such a colliding soliton would be expected to pass through itself, and proceed to then travel back up the axon away from the axon terminus? Now, consider this happening in a neuron with an axon which branches and leads to a hundred axon termini. Each terminus would have this soliton wave reach its tip, pass through itself, as Heimburg (2025) clearly suggests that AP passage upon collision is part of his soliton-AP model, and then start traveling back up the axon. Thus where one soliton/lipid phase transition wave would have started down the main axon, a hundred such waves then come back up the axon, and since the branches are likely to be of different lengths these back flowing waves would likely not be in sync with one another. On getting to the dendritic termini of this cell, a similar set of rebounding would perhaps happen, and so on. Where would the energy needed to power all of this amplification of soliton waves come from? Note, that this example assumes an isolated cell, without synapses, in cell culture, so the energy is not jumping into other cells, nor coming in from other cells either, as Heimburg (2025) might argue under his new "mechanical synapse" concept.

Of course, the advocates for the soliton AP model have also not yet clearly identified how the energy shift needed to initiate their soliton AP is coupled in a cell to achieve the start of their presumed lipid phase transition wave in the cell. Heimburg (2012, pg. 921) notes that a typical phospholipid bilayer would have its T<sub>m</sub> shifted just by 0.0114 K by an applied trans-bilayer potential shift of 100 mV, which seems to exclude a voltage change-based induction of any presumed lipid phase transition? Thus, once again, if we had evidence of an actual lipid phase shift happening during an AP, then studies of how it is initiated might be possible. But, clearly, looking for a mechanism to start something no one has yet detected to be happening is a tough assignment. Similarly, how a soliton AP would be terminated has not been described by the advocates of the soliton AP model either. Which is understandable as to study how something is ended, there first needs to be given solid evidence of its occurrence. But if, as Heimburg (2025) argues, soliton APs should not annihilate upon collision, and do not dissipate, then how are they ended? And if, as Heimburg (2025) suggests,

soliton passage occurs, then should we not expect one AP to rebound in an isolated cell and come back from the axon termini as many separate APs?

It should be noted that the electrophysiological AP model has largely addressed these issues: How an AP is initiated, the role of the refractory period in AP annihilation upon collision, and what happens at axon termini to terminate APs there have been described. Also by tapping into the transmembrane electrochemical potential gradients for sodium and potassium ions this largely accounts for the powering of the electrophysiological AP. These issues are well described in many standard texts (Aizawa et al., 1975; Tasaki, 1982; Shepherd, 1988a; Hille, 2001; Luo, 2016; Massey et al., 2022). The consensus is that the AP process produces net heat, so an energy change is indicated, a view which is characterized by Abbott et al. (1958. pg. 176); "It is difficult indeed to imagine an excitable membrane going through a complete cycle involving a several 100-fold increase in permeability to Na ions, followed by a similar increase in permeability to K ions, and yet behaving as a conservation system without change of energy..."

In contrast, the proposal made by Heimburg's group is that a soliton-AP has no net energy change, and that upon AP collision there is passage of the APs through each other. However, the published report of AP passage through each other upon collision was based on the use of a nerve bundle (Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2014; Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017), which led to questions as to whether the APs which were reported to have passed by each other were even in the same cell (Meissner, 2018). Work which explicitly tested what happens upon AP collision has found that, upon collision of two APs in the same cell, AP annihilation occurred and not AP passage (Fillafer et al., 2017). And it should be recalled that use is made of AP collisions leading to annihilation in the mapping of neuron connections between regions of the brain (Yeomans, 1995; Jones et al., 1999; Kelly et al., 2001). Thus annihilation upon AP collision is a commonly accepted feature (Berg et al., 2017). What should we conclude

Without clear answers to these energy issues, one gets an impression of solitons operating as a sort of perpetual motion device - never dissipating, never ending, producing ever increasing numbers of such waves in a cell and ending up with more energy change being indicated than was put in to start the initial solitonic phase change. There is a question here as to whether this soliton-AP model may violate the law of conservation of energy? To address this, there needs first to be solid evidence given that a lipid phase transition happens during an AP. Once that is obtained, then studies of how it may be initiated, or terminated, and the energies involved might become possible. But until reproducible evidence of this assumed lipid phase change is actually presented, further progress on this question of energy relations seems likely to be difficult to achieve. Until such positive evidence is presented, the electrophysiological AP model would seem to remain therefore as the better model in terms of its accounting for the energetics of the AP.

#### Does an AP Generate Net Heat or Not?

In arguing for his soliton-AP model Heimburg (2025) cites his earlier work in which he claims (Heimburg, 2021, pg. 26): "It has long been known that there is no measurable heat production associated with the nerve pulse." We will see that there are no modern measurements that support this claim, rather Heimburg's (2025) claim that an AP generates no net heat is, it seems, merely a statement of what would be expected if his soliton-AP model is assumed to be correct. Therefore, let us look more closely at the evidence which relates to this claim of the AP having no net heat generated.

In his article Heimburg (2021, pg. 36) also states; "Within experimental accuracy, no heat is dissipated during the action potential (Abbott et al., 1958)." But the Abbott et al. (1958) article clearly presents their conclusion that there IS net heat from each AP firing (Table 1A). Thus Heimburg (2021) is citing Abbott et al. (1958) in support of something which is contradicted by the very item Heimburg cites. What Abbott et al. (1958) found, and later confirmed (Abbott et al., 1965), was that there is an initial positive heat emitted during the initial part of the AP, followed by a period of negative heat

(an absorption of heat) during the later part of the AP, and that these two levels of heat are not equal in absolute magnitude, and so, with the positive heat somewhat higher than the negative heat (Table 1B), this results in an overall net heat from each AP. Other articles, which were cited by Heimburg (2025), also present conclusions that seem at odds with Heimburg's claim that APs lack net heat (Table 1). Thus, Heimburg is claiming that the positive heat, and the negative heat, would be equal in absolute magnitude, and so the AP process would be adiabatic. But this claim seems contradicted by the very articles he cites (Table 1). We will next consider the findings of Abbott et al. (1965), to see if they are consistent with Heimburg's hypothesis that the AP is adiabatic and generates no net heat.

**Table 1.** Statements from articles, which were cited by Heimburg (2025), on the issue of the pattern of heat production reported in studies of action potentials and production of net heat.

Statement:	Source:
A.) "The positive heat averaged $8.8 \times 10^{-6}$ cal/g, the negative heat $6.8 \times 10^{-6}$ cal/g, and the net heat $2.0 \times 10^{-6}$ cal/g. The negative heat was about 77% of the positive heat."	Abbott et al. 1958, pg. 157
B.) "There were two phases of heat production; 3.8 $\mu$ cal/g of heat was evolved during the first 50 msec and then nearly 80% was reabsorbed, equivalent to a negative heat production of about 3 $\mu$ cal/g."	Abbott et al. 1965, pg. 371
C.) " it is abundantly clear from our experiments and those of previous investigators that the nerve temperature does not return to its initial level after the passage of an impulse."	Howarth et al. 1968, pg. 790
D.) "The timing of the heat changes is compatible with the inward and outward currents and in the nerve there is never an overall cooling - the net heat is always positive."	Abbott et al. 1973, pg. 126
E.) "The difference between the two phases is the residual heat at the end of the action potential is now referred to as the 'net heat."	Howarth 1975, pg. 425
F.) "Since the recovery process is not 100% efficient, an appreciable amount of chemical energy is degraded into heat, which can be measured with a sensitive thermopile or thermistor. Quite distinct from the metabolic or recovery heat small changes in temperature occur that are direct thermodynamic consequences of the changes in the potential gradient across the membrane that necessarily accompany the nerve impulse."	e
G.) "The two phases of initial heat production, positive and negative, are nearly equal, but not exactly so."	Ritchie et al. 1985, pg. 459
H.) "The amount of heat absorbed during the negative phase varies widely between 45 and 85% of the heat evolved during the positive phase."	Tasaki et al. 1989, pg. 1033

The Abbott et al. (1965) article integrated the measurements they made to obtain an estimate of the mean positive and negative heats (n = 4 in each case) seen during the firing of a compound action potential in a nerve fiber. A statistical analysis of the presented findings suggests that there is a statistically significant difference between the absolute values of positive heat and negative heat reported (Table 2). This finding is consistent with the conclusion reached by Abbott et al. (1958) that there is net heat from AP firings, and contradicts directly Prof. Heimburg's (2021, 2025) claim that an AP is adiabatic and generates no net heat. Of course, one might argue that the results reported by Abbott et al. (1965) might be due to chance, but with an alpha level of 0.005 that chance would seem to be small (Table 2). But to refute such an argument we might look to other measurements, made by another study, to see if they support what Abbott et al. (1965) conclude, that AP firing does generate net heat.

**Table 2.** Are the positive and negative heats generated during action potentials equal in absolute magnitude or not? Data from Abbott et al. (1965, pgs. 372-373) are considered. A Student's T test (Mendenhall, 1975) was used to test the difference of the absolute mean values relative to an expected difference of zero. The results support the conclusion that the difference of the absolute values of the mean positive heat and the mean negative heat do differ significantly from a value of zero (at an alpha level of 0.005), implying that action potentials do generate net heat.

	T test details:
Sample size for each individual mean (n):	4
Mean positive heat observed (μcal/g/impulse) (±standard deviation):	7.2 (±0.5)
Mean negative heat observed (μcal/g/impulse) (±standard deviation):	-4.8 (±1.1)
T-test statistic of difference of the means:	3.973
Degrees of Freedom:	6
Tabular T value at $\alpha$ = 0.005:	3.707

The Abbott et al. (1965) mean values of heat were averaged over many different preparations, and that allowed the influence of extraneous variation to remain, resulting in a high variation in the measurements. A paired design, in which each preparation's positive and negative heats are directly compared, by taking a ratio of the absolute value of negative heat to positive heat, would remove some of these extraneous influences on the data. In this case Prof. Heimburg's hypothesis that an AP is adiabatic would imply that the ratio of the absolute value of the negative heat absorbed to the positive heat emitted should be one, while if there is net positive heat then this ratio should be significantly lower than one. Such a paired approach was taken by Howarth et al. (1968) in their study of the heat of compound action potentials. Statistical analyses of two sets of data from their article are presented in Table 3, and in both cases the values given were found to be significantly different from the ratio of one which Heimburg's hypothesis would predict. Thus these data from Howarth et al. (1968) are consistent with the conclusion that an action potential does emit net positive heat (Table 3). This, again, contradicts Prof. Heimburg's hypothesis that an AP is adiabatic and has no net heat production.

**Table 3.** Are the positive and negative heats generated during action potentials equal in absolute magnitude or not? Data from Howarth et al. (1968, taken from their Tables 2 and 3) are analyzed in terms of whether the absolute value of the ratio of negative heat to positive heat production measured during an action potential differs from what is expected if these two heats are equal in absolute magnitude (*i.e.*, if the ratio is expected to be 1.00). A Student's T test (Mendenhall, 1975) was done on these two sets of data. In each case the data supports a conclusion that the absolute value of the ratio of negative heat to positive heat is significantly lower than the expected value of 1.00. Thus (at an alpha level of 0.001), there is justification from these two sets of data to conclude, with high confidence, that the positive heat is indeed greater than the negative heat during an action potential, implying that action potentials do generate net heat.

	Using data from Howarth et al. (1968, their Table 2):	Using data from Howarth et al. (1968, their Table 3):
Sample size (n):	9	25
Mean positive heat observed (μcal/g/impulse) (±standard error of the mean):	6.03 (±0.43)	5.37 (±0.36)
Mean absolute value of ratio of negative to positive heat (paired by cell) (±standard error of the mean ratio):	0.69 (±0.03)*	0.67 (±0.03)
Student's T statistic of mean ratio compared to a value of 1.00:	-10.33	-11.00
Degrees of Freedom:	8	24
Tabular Student's T value at $\alpha = 0.001$ :	-5.041	-3.745

\*Note that with pairing the standard error of the mean of the ratio is lower than the standard error of the mean positive heat shown in the row above. This indicates that pairing is appropriate here as it removes much of the random variation found between individual preparations used.

Prof Heimburg (2025, pg. 2) attempts to justify his view that the data presented in the works he cites do not show any AP net heat, where he states... "The integral over the total heat exchange rate is zero within experimental accuracy. No heat is dissipated after the passage of the nerve pulse (Ritchie and Keynes, 1985)." He makes a similar claim in an earlier article (Heimburg, 2021, pg. 33). However, it should be noted that the article Heimburg cites (Ritchie et al., 1985) does state that early methods had poor resolution, and so were unable to resolve the differences, but with regard to more recent measurements they do note that a small rise in temperature is associated with AP firing (Table 1F), and that there is a small positive net heat able to be resolved with more modern methods (Table 1G). Thus, Prof. Heimburg's (2025, pg. 2) comments about "experimental accuracy" may refer to work done before the 1950s, when methods were not able to resolve this small net heat, and would seem to ignore the more recent measurements done with better methods? Indeed, one early set of work, which reported that nerve impulses imposed no temperature change, was done by Hill (1912). But it should be mentioned that in a later review article (Hill, 1959) this same worker noted how inadequate were the methods used in his earlier work, indicated that this issue was important since discovery of net heat would cause the rejection of certain AP hypotheses (such as viewing the AP as an adiabatic wave), and noted that a net temperature change had in fact been convincingly demonstrated when

adequate methods were later applied to this issue (Table 4A,B,C). In any event, Prof. Heimburg has not presented any statistical analysis of quantitative data to support his claim that when fully integrated across the entire AP there is neither a net temperature or net heat change, and indeed he has not stated just which set of data he means to refer to with regard to his claim that there is no net heat generated by AP firings (Heimburg, 2025). He is, of course, welcome to present the details of such an analysis on identified specific data if he wishes to fill this apparent gap in his argument. But his claim that APs do not generate net heat seems to be contradicted by findings reported in many of the articles he himself cites (Table 1), and also is contradicted by some other articles which he does not cite (Table 4).

Table 4. Statements from articles on the issue of heat production during action potentials.

Statement:	Source:	
A.) "If it could be shown that heat really was produced all along a nerve		
during transmission, then the purely physical theory of conduction would	II:11 10E0 16	
be untenable. A distributed relay system would be required, with energy	Hill 1959, pg. 16	
derived presumably from chemical change."		
B.) "Many things occur in nerve which are quite unlike what happens in the		
transmission of an ordinary physical wave, while the supposed	Liil 1050 ma 17	
physicochemical changes were so rapid that they were rather unlikely to go	Hill 1959, pg. 17	
on "reversibly" in such a medium as nerve."		
C.) "As a matter of fact heat is produced, and I had very nearly measured it;		
for 20 years later the heat per impulse at the same frequency was found to	Hill 1959, pg. 17	
be about 6 X 10-8 cal. per gm."		
D.) " a positive burst of heat of 14 X 10-6 cal./gm. occurs in the first 20		
msec. after the stimulus, and 12 X 10-6 cal./gm. of this is then reabsorbed	Abbott 1960, pg. 121	
over the next 100 to 200 msec."	10	
E.) "The results are such that it is doubtful if the Joule heat in nerve can in	A11 ((1070 100	
fact be dismissed as completely as at first believed."	Abbott 1960, pg. 123	
F.) "In a preliminary account of this work we favored the possibility that		
the discharge might involve a process analogous with the melting and		
splitting of a membrane component, but the fact that the cooling is	Keynes 1968, pg.	
appreciably more temperature dependent than the spike amplitude, and	224	
consideration of the reversibility of the permeability changes in the		
membrane, now lead us to reject this idea."		
G.) "It is now clear that in both crustacean (Abbott, Hill & Howarth, 1958)		
and mammalian (Howarth, Keynes & Ritchie, 1968) non-myelinated fibres	Keynes et al. 1970,	
there is an initial production of heat during (or soon after) the action	pg. 29P	
potential, 80% of which is rapidly reabsorbed."	10	
Statement:	Source:	
H.) "But they also revealed the quite unexpected fact that the true initial		
heat production is much greater than 2 µcal/g; there is in fact an evolution of		
about 10 μcal/g, of which about 80% is soon reabsorbed in a phase of	D: 1: 40 <b>50</b> 454	
negative heat production. The rise of 2 µ°C observed in the earlier	Ritchie 1973, pg. 151	
experiments was thus the net temperature rise produced by two opposing		
phases of heat production."		
I.) "In nearly all nerve fibres studies, the negative heat is less than the		
positive heat, there being a net residual heat of about 2 µcal/g left after each		
impulse, in excellent agreement with earlier findings: the one exception so		
far is the olfactory nerve of the pike, where the negative heat exceeds the	Ritchie 1973, pg. 155	
positive initial heat, leaving the nerve somewhat colder immediately after	,10	
the spike (Howarth, Keynes, von Muralt and Ritchie, unpublished		

J.) "What determines the variation in the metabolic cost per impulse from one type of nerve trunk to the next is thus the extent of the ionic movement with each impulse."	Ritchie 1973, pg. 178
K.) "In all three experiments done at still higher temperatures (16-20°C) the negative heat was only 89±4% of the positive heat."	Howarth et al. 1975, pg. 361
L.) "The most distinctive feature of our treatment is the proposal that, together with the recharging of the membrane capacitor, the closing of the ion channels explains the heat absorption."	Margineanu et al. 1977, pg. 3813
M.) "From the peak, the temperature fell relatively quickly and approached a level slightly (10-20% of the peak value) above the base-line."	Tasaki et al 1992, pg. 808
N,) " between 50 and 85% of the heat generated during the positive phase was reabsorbed during the negative phase."	Tasaki 1999, pg. 129
O.) "There is thus a direct relationship between the number of Na <sup>+</sup> ions that enter the cell during action potential generation and the energy cost of recovering from the action potential."	Hasenstaub et al. 2010, pg. 12329
P.) "In fact, much of the brain's energies are used to reverse the ion fluxes that generate APs and synaptic currents."	Yi et al. 2016, pg. 14
Q.) "Based on our study, we identify the release of electrostatic energy by the membrane as the primary mechanism of heat production and absorption by neurons during nervous conduction."	de Lichtervelde et al. 2020, pg. 1

Turning now to the view under the electrophysiological AP model, with regard to the pattern of heat emission and absorption during an AP, there are two factors considered to be of major influence (Ritchie 1973; Margineanu et al., 1977; Ritchie et al. 1985; Hasenstaub et al., 2010; Yi et al., 2016; Bororg et al., 2020; de Lichtervelde et al., 2020): One factor relates to the capacitance of the membrane, so that with changes in transmembrane potential there is a positive heat generated from the charging of the membrane capacitance, followed by the negative heat generated during its discharging as the membrane potential returns to its resting potential. Another factor is the positive heat generated by the flow of ions down their electrochemical gradient. Both of these processes are thought to be in operation during an AP, so their individual effects sum. The capacitative related shifts in heat are large and symmetrical in absolute magnitude, so in this way through the AP process the capacitative charge of the membrane does return to its initial state. However, the movement of various ions down their electrochemical energy gradients is an irreversible process, resulting in a net change in terms of ion distributions across the membrane which must be much later actively corrected by the cell via pumps and active transport systems, and so this AP related ion flow generates only positive (emitted) heat immediately during an AP, and this is widely thought to be the source of the net heat generated by AP firings (Table 4E,J,O,P). Therefore, the movement of charged items down their energy gradients mandates, by the law of conservation of energy, that heat will be generated. The production of heat by ion flows down their energy gradients is seen even in abiotic systems (Tsutsul et al., 2022), and is seen as accounting for thermogenesis in some other biotic systems as well (Bertholet et al., 2022).

Let us consider more closely how these capacitative events might contribute to the pattern of capacitative-related positive and negative heats produced during an AP. The surface potential of the cytosolic face of the plasma membrane attracts a layer of ions to an extent dependent in part on the difference between the electrical potential of the cytosolic bulk solution relative to that of the surface potential of the inner face of the membrane. Normally the surface potential of the inner face of the plasma membrane is negative relative to the resting potential of the bulk cytosol, and so cations are attracted to the membrane surface. However, during the initial depolarization phase of the action potential, the movement of ions into the bulk cytosolic solution leads to a change in its potential, towards zero and in some cases even to a reversal of its polarity to a positive value. This shift increases the difference between the potential of the bulk cytosol and the surface potential of the inner face of the plasma membrane, which should be expected to result in a stronger relative attraction of cations

to this surface of the membrane, and so with cations more strongly attracted this may be argued to release heat. This view finds some support in that the altering of the ion gradients across the cell membrane can alter how many Na<sup>+</sup> ions enter the cell during the initial spiking of an AP, this in turn alters the magnitude of the bulk cytosol potential shift observed to occur, and this has been reported to alter the magnitude of the positive heat observed in the initial part of the AP (Howarth et al., 1968). Once we are past the initial depolarization phase of the AP, and enter into the relatively slower repolarization phase, the magnitude of potential difference between the bulk cytosol and the cytosolic face of the plasma membrane lowers. This lowers the potential difference acting to attract cations to the membrane surface from the bulk cytosol, and so cations will tend to move away from the membrane surface, and this may be argued to absorb heat. Thus with the transmembrane potential difference between the bulk cytosol and outside solutions returning to the resting potential at the end of an AP firing the system has emitted and absorbed heat in a reversible manner. This is called the condenser model (Abbott et al., 1958; Abbott, 1960; Keynes, 1968; Howarth, 1975; Ritchie et al., 1985), and it was suggested that if the surface charge density of the cytosolic face of the plasma membrane is high enough, then this might account for much of the heat emitted and absorbed during an AP firing (Howarth et al., 1979; Ritchie et al., 1985), and a recent analysis supports those earlier suggestions (de Lichtervelde et al., 2020). It should be noted that, in the field of material sciences, some capacitative surfaces are shown to be good at storing and discharging energy upon changes in applied electrical field strength (Liu et al., 2025). Electrochemical capacitors have also been shown to produce ionic-based electrical double layers (Greco et al., 2025). In the context of a cell membrane, other sources of reversible heat might include reversible protein conformation changes which are induced by changes in the transmembrane potential during an AP (Table 4L) (Murugan et al., 2004; Crotty et al., 2006). Or, perhaps, the changes in transmembrane potential may induce an alteration of the surface charges displayed at the inner surface of the plasma membrane, which would be consistent with the earlier noted reports of a change in capacitance of the membrane during an AP.

Returning to the transmembrane current-related heat, it seems that some of the advocates for the soliton-AP model deny that during an AP there is any net transmembrane ion flow occurring at all, and they also refute a role for voltage-sensitive protein-based ion channels which would alter the permeability of the plasma membrane to allow for such specific ion flows during APs (Appali et al., 2012; Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2014; Heimburg, 2010; Vargas et al., 2011). Apparently from their perspective, such processes and events would inevitably result in net heat generation. The production of net heat would then refute the proposal made by the soliton-AP model that an AP is a type of physical wave and so should be adiabatic and produce no net heat. Indeed, it has been noted by earlier researchers that the finding of net heat being produced by an AP lead to their rejection of proposals that the AP might be a wave or other adiabatic process (Table 4A,F). Therefore, here we see that some supporters of the soliton-AP model seem to be quite willing to propose that this entire area of evidence for net transmembrane ion flows during an AP leading to net heat generation should be set aside, as it contradicts their soliton-AP model, which they claim to be mandated by thermodynamic principles. Thus, they argue that we should reject the evidence that there is any transmembrane ion flows during an AP, and so in that way no heat would be generated, in their view. They have not offered any actual evidence that there is no transmembrane ion flows during an AP. Instead, they use their model to judge the data, and only data consistent with their model are accepted by them.

Of course, there is much evidence for the flow of ions across the membrane during AP firings, obtained by various methods and well reviewed in the published literature; the following are just a few such published works (Hodgkin et al., 1939; Keynes, 1951; Hodgkin et al., 1949a, 1952b,c,d,e, 1955; Abbott et al., 1958; Cole et al., 1960; Tasaki et al., 1948, 1962; Keynes et al., 1965; Howarth et al., 1968; Shepherd, 1988a; Thiel et al., 1997; Johnson et al., 2002; Bezanilla, 2006; Bean, 2007; Beilby, 2007; Powell et al., 2021). It may be noted that Heimburg (2025) does himself cite several items which present evidence of transmembrane ion flows during APs, so while he apparently is well aware of this evidence he seems to choose to just ignore such findings and their implications, and does not

comment upon them. The changes in membrane ion permeability and transmembrane ion flows during APs have been confirmed so many times by various methods, and the high energy flow through nervous tissue operation is so well known (Attwell et al., 2001), that it seems startling to consider that such solid highly reproduced evidence can be proposed to be wrong based on the mere unconfirmed assumptions of the soliton-AP model. But this illustrates, yet again, how many of the advocates of the soliton-AP model consider only evidence that supports their model to be valid.

What should we conclude

If the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model would present actual evidence, from actual measurements, that during AP firings there is indeed no detectable net heat generated, then their arguments would be stronger. But they present no such evidence. This is very odd, as our good Prof. Heimburg is, himself, a talented lipid biophysicist with much experience in the measurement of heat by various methods. He would seem to be well placed to make such measurements about heat production during APs, but, twenty years after publishing his soliton-AP model, he still offers no actual evidence in support of his claim that APs are adiabatic. Instead of offering findings from new measurements, he (Heimburg, 2025), incorrectly and inaccurately, claims that the findings of Abbott et al. (1958) supports his view that APs are adiabatic, when in fact Abbot et al. (1958) clearly state that they found that there IS net positive heat generated from an AP (Table 1A). Further, Heimburg's claims (Heimburg, 2021, 2025) that the condenser model can not account for some of the heat changes seen during the pattern of positive and negative heat during AP firing. His claims are presented without any comments made at all on the views presented by others who suggest that this condenser model can indeed account for part of this pattern of heat (Howarth et al., 1979; Ritchie et al., 1985; de Lichtervelde et al., 2020). Add to this the rejection of the reports of observation of heat generated from transmembrane ion flows during APs (Tables 1 and 4), which is supported by statistical analysis of some of the presented data (Tables 2 and 3), as well as his rejection of ions moving down their energy gradients during APs as that would generate heat, and one is hard pressed not to adopt the notion that the view which some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model take is indeed one in which they choose to actively ignore alternatives that do not fit with their model. Their denial of the reproducible reports of net heat generation by AP firings is all the more odd as the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model often claim justification from thermodynamics (i.e., the study of heat) as a major argument for why their model should be accepted. Yet, as of now, they have not reported measurements of the heat of an AP which would support their claims. Instead they seem to be telling us what their model would predict, and given their high confidence in their soliton-AP model, they apparently feel that all reports of net heat from an AP must be in error.

Thus, there is no clear or compelling evidence presented to force us to reject the reports that APs do generate net heat; indeed the published evidence overwhelmingly supports the conclusion that AP firings do generate net positive heat. This conclusion may, of course, be altered with new information. But, as scientists we must demand actual evidence in support of this claim that APs are adiabatic before accepting it. So in the absence of compelling evidence, there can be no acceptance of this claim, that the AP generates no net heat and is adiabatic in its operation, at least not at this time. This obviously has implications for the viability of the soliton-AP model, which describes the AP as being an adiabatic wave-like process. How, after all, can an adiabatic wave account for the net heat reported to be generated by AP firings?

### In Conclusion: On Standards of Evidence and the Dangers of Abandoning the Scientific Method

As noted earlier (Meissner, 2018, 2022), under the soliton-AP model, Heimburg and some others often make claims which seem to contradict well established findings or which ignore reasonable alternatives which would be consistent with the well accepted electrophysiological AP model, and they also often fail to support their claims with clear evidence. This lack of evidence, ignoring of evidence, and even skewing or misrepresentation of evidence in some cases, has caused a rather

strong reaction amongst neurobiologists (Fox, 2018), and is quite likely a large part of the reason, rather than an unwillingness to consider new models as some suggest (Drukarch et al., 2025) or a lack of appreciation of wave-like phenomena as others suggest (Shrivastava, 2021), for why this soliton-AP model has failed to gather acceptance in the broad scientific community. To emphasize this point, let us review a few examples already mentioned above.

For instance, as noted above, the claim is made that APs have no net heat, when the consensus view (Tables 1, 4), based on reproducible measurements, is that APs do generate net heat. The claim is also made that during an AP no net transmembrane ion flow occurs, as that would generate net heat, even though there are many accepted and well replicated reports of transmembrane ion flows during APs. Also, as noted earlier in this article, it is quite possible that anaesthetic effects occur because of their interactions with proteins, rather than through the inhibition of a lipid phase transition; compelling evidence for a lipid phase transition during an AP not having yet been reported, whereas anesthetic inhibition of many protein activities needed for AP firing under the electrophysiological AP model having been reported. In addition, under the soliton-AP model the claim is made that the apparent widening of the plasma membrane during an AP, and changes in its optical features, may be due to a lipid phase transition, but this ignores the alternate view that voltage-dependent changes in membrane protein conformations may also account for this apparent membrane widening and changes in optical features (Meissner, 2018). And the claim that the soliton-AP is said to be adiabatic, coupled with the claim of AP passage upon collision, was noted above to imply a possible violation of the law of conservation of energy.

The above claims, and many others, are apparently made as these are what the soliton-AP model advocates feel is implied by their model, and they apparently have such high confidence in their model that they feel there is no need on their part to produce actual evidence for these claims. Instead they merely argue that each of the sets of evidence which contradicts their model are somehow wrong (exact details of how they are wrong are typically not presented), and imply that any alternate explanation for the phenomena they explore which might be consistent with the electrophysiological AP model should be ignored, simply because it is inconsistent with their model. This is seen where Heimburg (2022b, pg. 26) discounts any attempt to account for AP features via ion channels or other molecular events where he states: "Therefore, any molecular attempt to understand the dependence of a macroscopic biological system on temperature, pressure, voltage or drugs must necessarily be incomplete and will most likely be wrong." Heimburg's position that descriptions at the "molecular" level are unacceptable seems rather odd when it is recalled that his soliton-AP model makes use of a lipid phase transition, which is itself a description of events at a molecular level, and so constitutes a molecular mechanism, one which Heimburg et al. (2005) relates to temperature, pressure, voltage, and interactions with drugs. Perhaps this suggests that molecular mechanisms which are consistent with Heimburg's views are acceptable, such as a lipid phase transition, and the reason for rejection of other molecular mechanisms is merely that they are not consistent with Heimburg's favored model? It would help if our good Prof. Heimburg and others would tell us why this molecular mechanism of a lipid phase transition should be seen as acceptable, but that other molecular mechanisms should be all swept aside without consideration of their details? In this way it seems that these good people are using a very different standard of evidence compared to that which most scientists use. Without solid data in favor of the soliton-AP model, and without clear statements of what is "wrong" with the current electrophysiological AP model, these claims often produce an impression of being highly subjective and biased. This is perhaps a major reason for this model's failure to gain support.

Thus, it seems that what some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model are using as a standard of evidence is one that is not consistent with that used in your grandparents' scientific method. Rather the advocates of the soliton-AP model are apparently using a standard of evidence which is consistent with that used by your great, great, etc... grandparents, which was a metaphysical/natural philosophy approach to examining the universe, used long before the scientific method was even devised. Aspects of this different approach have been described previously (Meissner, 2022). Under

this metaphysical approach, a model is devised which is argued to be consistent with eternal and well established rules, principles and laws. Thus the relation of the model to those rules is argued to establish it's credibility in the minds of its advocates, and actual evidence for or against the model is not then their central concern. Once such a model is generated, then examples of specific data which may support it are sought in a classical inductionist manner, and any sets of evidence which contradicts the model are argued against (Meissner, 2022). Thus the model is used to judge which sets of evidence are acceptable, and which are to be rejected. Therefore, in the above examples, the AP is argued to have no net heat, and to have no net transmembrane ion flow, not because of any new or compelling evidence that is being brought forward to support such claims, but because that is the view consistent with the model these good people are convinced must be correct. Their confidence, belief, or faith if you like, in their model is centered on its connection to the eternal associated laws and rules, and is not based on any preponderance of evidence.

This approach of referring to eternal laws also seems to lead advocates for the solition-AP model to argue against the use of an empirical approach. This is seen where Heimburg dismisses the work of Hodgkin et al. (1952a) where he states (Heimburg 2022b, pg. 11): "... the description of the action potential is a fit to the experimental data rather than a theory based on first principles." It should be noted that the electrophysiological AP model has a basis in terms of the laws of conservation of energy and of charge, and as mentioned earlier to other physical principles. Surely, these conservation laws are "first principles"? Exactly which "first principles" Heimburg (2022b) means to refer to is left unclear, but obviously the electrophysiological AP model has strong connections to "first principles" but Heimburg seems to discount such connects. Again, what Heimburg is suggesting here seems to be a very different standard of evidence from that used under the scientific method. Thus he attacks the electrophysiological AP model's relationship with first principles, rather than being concerned with evidence which may support it. Thus the belief is in the connection to the eternal principles, not in the actual collected data. This faith-based metaphysical view extends further to allow for events for which no actual evidence has been put forward, and to allow for the discounting of other alternative explanations of certain phenomena even when evidence for them exists.

Thus, twenty years after its introduction, the fact that the soliton-AP model has not yet produced a compelling set of evidence for a major lipid phase transition happening during an AP does not seem to trouble many of the advocates of this model at all. Nor are they concerned by the notion that the changes in surface potentials they claim would occur during such a hypothetical lipid phase transition have not been shown to have macroscopic effects, and so have not been shown to be able to account for the pattern of electrical changes we see during an AP (Meissner, 2022). They know what is expected under their model, and finding evidence for these sorts of specific features is seen as just a trivial detail, or perhaps argued to be evidence not yet obtained due to technical difficulties in finding the evidence they are confident should be out there in support of their model. Instead their belief that thermodynamics or some other fundamental physical law, somehow, mandates that their model must operate dominates their views, and the notion of describing an AP based on specific molecular events other than their own mechanism of a lipid phase transition is rejected. Under this view all evidence contrary to their soliton-AP model is discounted, and also the lack of positive supporting evidence is not seen by these advocates as a reason to abandon their model, as they are not primarily making an evidence-based argument.

All of this is, of course, very different from the standard of evidence used under the scientific method. This apparent abandonment of the scientific method by some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model may thus be a major reason for why their model has failed to gain acceptance in the broader scientific community. As, under the scientific method, any proposed model which lacks compelling evidence for its proposed explanation of phenomena, or which fails to clearly account for existing evidence which conflicts with the proposed model, or which fails to show how reasonable alternative explanations may be discounted, is unlikely to gain much support. The scientific method uses an evidence-based approach in which the new evidence judges the model, while many of the advocates

of the soliton-AP model are presenting a faith-based metaphysical approach in which evidence is not the critical feature, rather their model is used to judge the evidence (Meissner, 2022).

This metaphysical natural philosophy-based standard of evidence which some of the advocates for the soliton-AP model have adopted calls upon scientists to judge their proposed model not by the evidence, but by its relationship to higher laws, or in terms of the beauty of its equations, or due to the reputations of past important scientists who may have stated speculations which happen to be consistent with the soliton-AP model. This, obviously, is a rather difficult standard of evidence for many scientists to accept. But it implies, perhaps, that we should not view some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model as being scientists who use the scientific method. If they were such, they would be doing the necessary tests and judging their model by the new evidence gathered. Rather, it might be more accurate to view some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model as being natural philosophers who are putting forward metaphysics and who make use of inductive reasoning to "cherry pick" what evidence fits to the model they believe to be valid? Thus the model judging the data seems perfectly natural to them, though it shows a complete abandonment of the scientific method.

Thus, twenty years after its introduction, the soliton-AP model is still not well accepted by the broad scientific community. And that state is unlikely to change so long as many of the advocates of this model are not really attempting to find new evidence to either support their model or to refute that which upholds the modern electrophysiological AP model and its interpretation of many of the phenomena associated with AP firings. Even something as fundamental for the soliton-AP model as demonstrating that during an AP there is a major lipid phase transition happening has not been shown, yet, by the advocates of the soliton-AP model to have solid evidence in support of this basic assumption of their model. Those who advocate for the soliton-AP model are welcome, of course to carry out tests which, if certain results are obtained and found to be reproducible, might help them to garner support for their model amongst the scientific community. Many such tests have been suggested (Meissner, 2018, 2022), but by and large these tests have not, as of this date, had their results reported in the literature. Only if they give actual evidence so that, under the scientific method, their model may be judged as being supported by new evidence would the soliton-AP model be acceptable to scientists who work under the scientific method. For the advocates of the soliton-AP model to expect scientists to stop using the scientific method, or to ask scientists to reject well replicated findings which conflict with the soliton-AP model simply on faith because their model has some sort of association with an eternal law, is in effect asking scientists to stop being scientists - it is asking too much. This, it is argued, is one of the main reasons for the lack of acceptance seen for the soliton-AP model among the scientific community.

New styles of thinking are always welcome. But they should be subjected to rigorous evaluation under normal standards of evidence. When the standards of evidence are altered to fit the model, that can risk undermining science (Plait, 2023; Erduran, 2025). Thus, there is a danger in the apparent abandonment of the scientific method by some of the advocates of the soliton-AP model. Consider; there are in our society today many groups who have a favored idea by which they judge all data, and in regard to which certain data are accepted and other data are rejected. One example of such a group might be the "intelligent design" advocates who promote creationist views and reject biological evolution theory (Behe, 1996). The scientific method (Blystone et al., 2006), by demanding that views be verified by the production of new evidence, is extremely different from how such groups judge the data by their favored model. Thus, by their apparent rejection of the scientific method, some of the advocates for the soliton-AP model may, perhaps, not only have stopped being scientists themselves and become natural philosophers, but their promotion of new standards of evidence may well constitute an attack upon the very standards of evidence which underpin the scientific method and so establishes the authority of modern science. This should be a cause of concern to all scientists who wish to uphold proper standards of evidence as used under the scientific method. By using a very different standard of evidence some of the proponents of the soliton-AP model may well be threatening the authority of science.

That said, the advocates of the soliton-AP model are free to seek for positive evidence for their model, evidence which, under the scientific method, might be taken as compelling acceptance of the assumptions and predictions associated with their model. If they can achieve that, then their proposed model may well be taken up by more scientists as a viable accounting of the AP. On the other hand, if such supportive evidence can not be obtained, meaning that reasonable tests refute their model's assumptions or predictions, then, the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model should accept that their model is just not supported by compelling evidence and either adjust their model so that it conforms with well accepted data or give it up entirely. But the philosophical approach they have adopted seems to preclude their acceptance of the results of such tests. And so we might expect in another twenty years time to find some of these people still putting forward a fundamentally metaphysical view without solid evidence.

One other issue seems to need mentioning: That of how some advocates of the soliton-AP model, when putting forward their arguments also display a rather unfortunate tendency, noted in this article and previously (Meissner, 2022), to cite articles in support of their claims, when in fact the cited articles present findings which either directly contradicts the claims made by the advocates of the soliton-AP model or concludes something other than what is claimed. As noted above, this tendency is seen in the claim by Heimburg (2025) that the work of Johnson et al. (1950), which examined anaesthetic effects on a protein, instead showed effects on membrane lipids. Also, where the Kim et al. (2007) article found vertical displacement on AP arrival in a structure in the nervous system, Heimburg (2025) then incorrectly attributed this finding to a longitudinal displacement. Furthermore, and perhaps most important, the continuing claim by Heimburg (2021, 2025) that the Abbott et al. (1958) article supports a conclusion that AP firings do not emit any net heat, when in fact Abbott et al. (1958) conclude that net heat is emitted from AP firings (Table 1A). These and other unjustified mischaracterizations, some mentioned previously (Meissner, 2022) and others not mentioned, of the findings reported in various articles does nothing to advance the arguments put forward by the advocates for the soliton-AP model, rather it acts largely to undermine the credibility of these good people in the eyes of the broader scientific community. Speculation is one thing, making unsupported initial claims as part of presenting a new model is typical, but to make claims contradicted by the immediately cited literature is neither a productive nor honest approach.

Therefore, I would, again (Meissner, 2022), urge the good people who advocate for the soliton-AP model to use the scientific method and collect new data from new measurements and then judge their model by the data, as this is the highly productive approach which has been taken by most modern scientists in their studies. If those new data support their model, then their model may have some chance of gaining support, but if those new data are not consistent with their model, then they should question their model's validity. That is the standard of evidence used under the scientific method, and no other approach is likely to be accepted widely by scientists.

In closing, with regard to Heimburg's (2007, pg. 285) "courageous" assumption that events in non-living artificial lipid bilayers should be assumed to occur in a similar manner in the more complex biological membranes of living organisms, the following quote (Asimov, 1992, pg. 73) might be appropriate:

"Nevertheless, scientists are human, and in science, as in other facets of human thought, an assumption that has been held long enough takes on the force of cosmic law. People forget that it is only an assumption and find it difficult to consider the possibility that it might be wrong."

**Acknowledgments:** The author wishes to thank the good folks at several of the University of the Philippines campuses, including most recently at the Institute of Biology, UP Diliman, for allowing a retired professor, and former Cornell University janitor, to at least offer assistance as a volunteer on each of their campuses. Thanks is also due to many people who at various times over several years have patiently replied to e-mails containing questions on a variety of topics related to this article, including most recently Prof. Thomas Heimburg.

Conflicts of Interest: The author (STM) declares no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Abbott B.C- 1960-Heat production in nerve and electric organ- The Journal of General Physiology 43: (#5) 119-127.
- Abbott B.C., A.V. Hill, J.V. Howarth- 1958-The positive and negative heat production associated with a nerve impulse- Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B, 148: (#931, 2/18) 149-187. https://www.jstor.org/stable/83038.
- Abbott B.C., J.V. Howarth- 1973-Heat studies in excitable tissues- Physiological Reviews 53: (#1) 120-158.
- Abbott B.C., J.V. Howarth, J.M. Ritchie- 1965-The initial heat production associated with the nerve impulse in crustacean and mammalian non-myelinated nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology 178: 368-383.
- Adams W.R., R. Gautam, A. Locke, L.E. Masson, A.I. Borrachero-Conejo, B.R. Dollinger, G.A. Throckmorton, C. Duvall, E.D. Jansen, A. Mahadevan-Jansen- 2022-Visualizing the lipid dynamics role in infrared neural stimulation using stimulated Raman scattering- Biophysical Journal 121: (April) 1525-1540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj2022.03.006.
- Aizawa Y., Y. Shimatani, Y. Kobatake- 1975-Theory of wave propagation in nervous system An example of dissipative sturcture in an open system- Progress of Theoretical Physics 53: (#2) 305-314.
- Alcami P., A. El Hady- 2019-Axonal computations- Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience 13: article 413, 19 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00413.
- Almeida P.F- 2011-A simple thermodynamic model of the liquid-ordered state and the interactions between phospholipids and cholesterol- Biophysical Journal 100: (Jan.) 420-429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2010.12.3694.
- Alvarez O., R. Latorre- 1978-Voltage-dependent capacitance in lipid bilayers made from monolayers-Biophysical Journal 21: 1-17.
- Andersen S.S.L., A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg- 2009-Towards a thermodynamic theory of nerve pulse propagation- Progress in Neurobiology 88: 104-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.03.002.
- Antonov V.F., A.A. Anosov, V.P. Norik, E.A. Korepanova, E.Y. Smirnova- 2003-Electrical capacitance of lipid bilayer membranes of hydrogenated egg lecithin at the temperature phase transition- European Biophysics Journal 32: (April) 55-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-002-0266-7.
- Appali R., U. van Rienen, T. Heimburg- 2012-A comparison of the Hodgkin-Huxley model and the Soliton theory for the action potential in nerves- Chapter 9 in Advances in Planar Lipid Bilayers and Liposomes, Vol. 16, 275-299. Elsevier Inc.. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396534-9.00009-X.
- Asimov I- 1992-Atom: Journey Across the Subatomic Cosmos. 340 pgs. Truman Talley Books, New York, New York, U.S.A.
- Attwell D., SB. Laughlin-2001-An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain- Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 21: (#10) 1133-1145.
- Auerbach A., F. Sachs- 1984-Patch Clamp studies of single ion channels- Annual Review of Biophysics and Bioengineering 13: 269-302.
- Ayer R.K.jr, F.J. Sigworth- 1997-Enhanced closed-state inactivation in a mutant shaker K<sup>+</sup> channel- Journal of Membrane Biology 571: 215-230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002329900230.
- Bae C., F. Sachs, P.A. Gottlieb- 2015-Protonation of the human PIEZO1 ion channel stabilizes inactivation-Journal of Biological Chemistry 290: (#8) 5167-5173.
- Bassetto C.A.Z. jr., B.I. Pinto, R. Latorre, F. Bezanilla- 2023-Ion channel thermodynamics studied with temperature jumps measured at the cell membrane- Biophysical Journal 122: (Feb. 21) 661-671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2023.01.015.
- Batabyal S., S. Satpathy, L. Bui, Y-T. Kim, S. Mohanty, R. Bachoo, D.P. Davé- 2017-Label-free optical detection of action potential in mammalian neurons- Biomedical Optics Express 8: (#8) 14 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1364/BOE.8.003700.
- Bean B.P- 2007-The action potential in mammalian central neurons- Nature Reviews Neuroscience 8: (June) 451-465. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2148.
- Begenisich T- 1992-Ion channel selectivity, permeation, and block- pgs. 92-100, in Ion Channels, Methods in Enzymology, vol. 207, B. Rudy editor, Academic Press, San Diego, U.S.A. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(92)07006-a.

- Behe M.J. 1996-Darwin's black box: the biochemical challenge to evolution- 330 pgs., The Free Press, New York, New York, U.S.A.
- Beilby M.J- 2007-Action potential in Charophytes- International Review of Cytology 257: 43-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(07)57002-6.
- Beitinger H., V. Vogel, D. Möbius, H. Rahmann- 1989-Surface potentials and electric dipole moments of ganglioside and phospholipid monolayers: contribution of the polar headgroup at the water/lipid interface-Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 984: 293-300.
- Bekkers J.M., I.C. Forster, N.G. Greeff- 1990-Gating current associated with inactivated states of the squid axon sodium channel- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 87: (Nov.) 8311-8315.
- Bennett W.F.D., J.L. MacCallum, D.P. Tieleman- 2009-Thermodynamic analysis of the effect of cholesterol on dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine lipid membranes- Journal of the American Chemical Society 131: 1972-1978. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja808541r.
- Berestovsky G.N., G.M. Frank, E.A. Liberman, V.Z. Lunevsky, V.D. Razhin- 1970-Electrooptical phenomena in biomolecular phospholipid membranes- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 219: (#2, 12/1) 263-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(70)90205-1.
- Berg R.W., M.T. Stauning, J.B. Sørensen, H. Jahnsen- 2017-Comment on "Penetration of action potentials during collision in the median and lateral giant axons of invertebrates"- Physical Review X 7: 028001, 3 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.7.028001.
- Bertholet A.M., Y. Kirichok- 2022-Mitochondrial H<sup>+</sup> leak and thermogenesis- Annual Review of Physiology 84: (2/10) 381-407. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-021119-024405.
- Bezanilla F- 2018-Gating Currents- Journal of General Physiology 150: (#7) 911-932. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201812090.
- Bezanilla F- 2006-The action potential: From voltage-gated conductances to molecular structures- Biological Research 39: 425-435.
- Bissiere S., M. Zelikowsky, R. Ponnusamy, N.S. Jacobs, H.T. Blair, M.S. Fanselow- 2011-Electrical synapses control hippocampal contributions to fear learning and memory- Science 331: (#6013, 1/7) 87-91. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1193785.
- Blicher A., T. Heimburg- 2013-Voltage-gated lipid ion channels- PLoS ONE 8: (#6) e66707. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.005707.
- Blicher A., K. Wodzinska, M. Fidorra, M. Winterhalter, T. Heimburg- 2009-The temperature dependence of lipid membrane permeability, its quantized nature, and the influence of anesthetics- Biophysical Journal 96: (June) 4581-4591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.01.062.
- Blystone R.V., K. Blodgett- 2006-WWW: The scientific method- CBE Life Sciences Education 5: (Spring) 7-11. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.o5-12-0134.
- Bororg B., M.A. Lomholt, H. Khandelia- 2020-Thermodynamic investigation of the mechanism of heat production during membrane depolarization- Journal of Physical Chemistry B 124: 2815-2822. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.9b11456.
- Božič A., R. Podgornik- 2021-Site correlations, capacitance, and polarizability from protein protonisation fluctuations- Journal of Physical Chemistry B 125: (#46) 12902-12908. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.1c08200.
- Brauchi S., P. Orio, R. Latorre- 2004-Clued to understanding cold sensation: Thermodynamics and electrophysiological analysis of the cold receptor TRPM8- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 101: (#43) 15494-15499. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406773101.
- Braun A.P- 2013-Built for speed Molecular properties of the voltage sensor domain underlie the rapid activation of voltage-gated Na+ channels compared with *Shaker*-type K+ channels- Channels 7: (#6, Nov/Dec) 423-425. https://doi.org/10.4161/chan.27652.
- Bretschneider F., J.R. de Weille- 2006-Introduction to Electrophysiological Methods and Instrumentation- 267 pgs., Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Brown K.M., T.A. Gillette, G.A. Ascoli- 2008-Quantifying neuronal size: Summing up trees and splitting the branch difference- Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 19: (#6) 485-493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semedb.2008.08.005.

- Brownell W.E., F. Qian, B. Anvan- 2010-Cell membrane tethers generate mechanical force in response to electrical stimulation- Biophysical Journal 99: (Aug.) 845-852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2010.05.025.
- Burtscher V., M. Hotka, M. Freissmuth, W. Sandtner-2020-An electrophysiological approach to measure changes in the membrane surface potential in real time-Biophysical Journal 118: (Feb.) 813-825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2019.06.033.
- Butterworth J.F. iv, G.R. Strichartz- 1990-Molecular mechanisms of local anesthesia: A review- Anesthesiology 72: 711-734.
- Cárdenas-García S.P., S. Ijaz, A.E. Pereda- 2024-The components of an electrical synapse as revealed by expansion microscopy of a single synaptic contact- eLife 13: article e91931, 22 pgs. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.91931.
- Cardnell R.J.G., D.E. Dalle Nogare, B. Ganetzky, M. Stern- 2006-*In vivo* analysis of a gain-of-function mutation in the Drosophila *eag*-encoded K<sup>+</sup> channel- Genetics 172: 2351-2358. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.105.048777.
- Carrillo N- 2025-Models of the Nerve impulse- Chapter 40, pgs. 549-560, in The Routledge Handbook of Philosophy of Scientific Modeling, edited by T. Knuuttila, N. Carrillo, and R. Koskinen. Routledge Press. New York, New York, U.S.A.. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003205647.
- Carter B.C., B.P. Bean- 2009-Sodium entry during action potentials of mammalian central neurons: incomplete inactivation and reduced metabolic efficiency in fast-spiking neurons- Neuron 64: (#6, 12/24) 898-909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.12.011.
- Catalano S.M., R.T. Robertson, H.P. Killackey- 1995-Rapid alteration of thalamocortical axon morphology follows peripheral damage in the neonatal rat- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 92: (March) 2549-2552.
- Catterall W.A- 2017-Forty years of sodium channels: Structure, function, pharmacology, and epilepsy-Neurochemical Research 42: (#9) 2495-2504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-017-2314-9.
- Cavanagh J.F- 2018-Electrophysiology as a theoretical and methodological hub for the neural sciences-Psychophysiology 56: e13314, 13 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13314.
- Cha A., F. Bezanilla- 1997-Characterizing voltage-dependent conformational changes in the *Shaker* K<sup>+</sup> channel with fluorescence- Neuron 19: (Nov.) 1127-1140.
- Chakrabarti S., J.D. Klich, M.A. Khallaf, A.J. Hulme, O. Sánchez-Carranza, Z.M. Baran, A. Rossi, A.T-L. Huang, T. Pohl, R. Fleischer, C. Fürst, A. Hammes, V. Bégay, H. Hörnberg, R.K. Finol-Urdaneta, K. Poole, M. Dottori, G.R. Lewin- 2024-Touch sensation requires the mechanically gated ion channel ELKIN1- Science 383: (#6686, 3/1) 992-998. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adl0495.
- Chiu S.Y., J.M Ritchie- 1982-Evidence for the presence of potassium channels in the internode of frog myelinated nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology (London) 322: 485-501.
- Clairfeuille T., A. Cloake, D.T. Infield, J.P. Llongueras, C.P. Arthur, Z.R. Li, Y. Jian, M-F. Martin-Eauclaire, P.E. Bougis, C. Ciferri, C.A. Ahern, F. Bosmans, D.H. Hackos, A. Rohou, J. Payandeh- 2019-Structural basis of α-scorpion toxin action on Na<sub>v</sub> channels- Science 363: (#6433, 3/22) 1302. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav8573.
- Cohen L.B- 1973-Changes in neuron structure during action potential propagation and synaptic transmission-Physiological Reviews 53: (#2, April) 373-418. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1973.53.2.373.
- Cohen L.B., B. Hille, R.D. Keynes, D. Landowne, E. Rojas- 1971-Analysis of the potential-dependent changes in optical retardation in the squid giant axon- Journal of Physiology (London) 218: 205-237.
- Cole K.S., J.W. Moore- 1960-Ionic current measurements in the squid giant axon membrane- Journal of General Physiology 44: 123-167.
- Cole K.S- 1941-Rectification and inductance in the squid giant axon- Journal of General Physiology 25: (#1) 29-
- Crotty P., W.B. Levy- 2007-Sodium gating capacitance and the optimization of the squid giant axon for metabolic energy usage- BMC Neuroscience 8: (Suppl 2) p114. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-8-S2-P114.
- Crotty P., T. Sangrey, W.B. Levy- 2006-Metabolic energy cost of action potential velocity- Journal of Neurophysiology 96: 1237-1246. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01204.2005.

- Curnow P., P.J. Booth- 2007-Combined kinetic and thermodynamic analysis of  $\alpha$ -helical membrane protein unfolding- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 104: (#48, 11/27) 18970-18975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705067104.
- Das J- 2020-SNARE complex-associated proteins and alcohol- Alcohol Clinical and Experimental Research 44: (#1) 7-18. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.14238.
- de Lera Ruiz M., R.L. Kraus- 2015-Voltage-gated sodium channels: Structure, function, pharmacology, and clinical indications- Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 58: 7093-7118. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm501981g.
- de Lichtervelde A.C.L., J.P. de Souza, M.Z. Bazant- 2020-Heat of nervous conduction: A thermodynamic framework- Physical Review E 101: 022406, 13 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.101.022406.
- Doyle D.A., J.M. Cabral, R.A. Pfuetzner, A. Kuo, J.M. Gulbis, S.L. Cohen, B.T. Chait, R. MacKinnon- 1998-The structure of the potassium channel: Molecular basis of K<sup>+</sup> conduction and selectivity- Science 280; (#5360, 4/3) 69-77.
- Drexler B., B. Antkowiak, E. Engin, U. Rudolph- 2011-Identification and characterization of anesthetica targets by mouse molecular genetics approaches- Candian Journal of Anaesthesia 58: (#2) 178-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-010-9414-1.
- Drukarch B., M.M.M. Wilhelmus- 2025-Understanding the scope of the contemporary controversy about the physical nature and modeling of the action potential: Insights from history and philosophy of (neuro)science- OBM Neurobiology 9: (#1) 21 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.21926/obm.neurobiol.2501269.
- Duarte-Gómez E.E., D. Graham, M. Budzik, B. Paxson, L. Csonka, M. Morgan, B. Applegate, M.F. San Martín-González- 2014-High hydrostatic pressure effects on bacterial bioluminescence- LWT Food Science and Technology 56: 484-493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2013.12.017.
- Economo M.N., N.G. Clack, L.D. Lavis, C.R. Gerfen, K. Svoboda, E.W. Myers, J. Chandrashekar-2016-A platform for brain-wide imaging and reconstruction of individual neurons- eLife 5: article e10566, 22 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.10566.001.
- El Hady A., B.B. Machta- 2015-Mechanical surface waves accompany action potential propagation- Nature Communications 6: 6697. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7697.
- Erduran S- 2025-The post-truth era and how science education keeps ignoring it- Science 388: (#6746, 5/1). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adx5458.
- Favuzzi E., R. Deogracias, M. Marques-Smith, P. Maeso, J. Jezequel, D. Exposito-Alonso, M. Balia, T. Kroon, A.J. Hinojosa, E.F. Maraver, B. Rico- 2019-Distinct molecular programs regulate synapse specificity in cortical inhibitory circuits- Science 363: (#6425, 1/25) 413-417. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau8977.
- Fernández J.M., R.E. Taylor, F. Bezanilla- 1983-Induced capacitance in the squid giant axon- The Journal of General Physiology 82: (Sept.) 331-346.
- Ferrero G.A., A.B. Fuertes, M. Sevilla- 2015-From soybean residue to advanced supercapacitors- Scientific Reports 5: article 16618, 13 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16618.
- Fichtl B., S. Shrivastava, M.F. Schneider- 2016-Protons at the speed of sound: Predicting specific biological signaling from physics- Scientific Reports 6: article 22874, 9 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22874.
- Fillafer C., A. Paeger, M.F. Schneider- 2017-Collision of two action potentials in a single excitable cell-Biochemical et Biophysica Acta General Subjects 1861: 3282-3286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2017.09.020.
- Fleidervish I.A., N. Lasser-Ross, M.J. Gutnick, W.N. Ross- 2010-Na<sup>+</sup> imaging reveals little difference in action potential-evoked Na<sup>+</sup> influx between axon and soma- Nature Neuroscience
- 13: (#7) 852-860. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2574.
- Flodgaard H., P. Fleron- 1974-Thermodynamic parameters for the hydrolysis of inorganic pyrophosphate at pH 7.4 as a function of  $[Mg^{+2}]$ ,  $[K^{+}]$ , and ionic strength determined from equilibrium studies of the reaction–Journal of Biological Chemistry 249: (#11) 3465-3474.
- Fox D-2018-The brain reimagined-Scientific American 318: (#4, April) 60-67.
- Forman S.A., D.C. Chiara, K.W. Miller- 2015-Anesthetics target interfacial transmembrane sites in nicotinic acetylcholine receptors- Neuropharmacology 96: 169-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.10.002.

- Frankenhaeuser B., A.F. Huxley- 1964-The action potential in the myelinated nerve fibre of *Xenopus laevis* as computed on the basis of voltage clamp data- Journal of Physiology (London) 171: 302-315.
- Freeman S.A., M.A. Wang, J.C. Weaver-1994-Theory of electroporation of planar bilayer membranes: Predictions of the aqueous area, change in capacitance, and pore-pore separation-Biophysical Journal 67: (July) 42-56.
- Galassi V.V., N. Wilke- 2021-On the coupling between mechanical properties and electrostatics in biological membranes- Membranes 11: 478, 24 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11070478.
- Gentet L.J., G.J. Stuart, J.D. Clements- 2000-Direct measurement of specific membrane capacitance in neurons-Biophysical Journal 79: (July) 314-320.
- Gleitsman K.R., M. Tateyama, Y. Kubo- 2009-Structural rearrangements of the motor protein prestin revealed by fluorescence resonance energy transfer- American Journal of Physiology and Cell Physiology- 297: C290- C298. https://doi.org/10.1151/ajpcell.00647.2008.
- Gluick T.C., D.E. Draper- 1994-Thermodynamics of folding a pseudoknotted mRNA fragment- Journal of Molecular Biology 241: 246-262.
- Goksu E.I., J.M. Vanegas, C.D. Blanchette, W-C. Lin, M.L. Longo- 2009-AFM for structure and dynamics of biomembranes- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1788: 254-266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.08.021.
- Goldenberg N.M., B.E. Steinberg- 2010-Surface charge: A key determinant of protein localization and function-Cancer Research 70: (#4) 1277-1280. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2905.
- Gonzalez-Perez A., R. Budvytyte, L.D. Mosgaard, S. Nissen, T. Heimburg- 2014-Penetration of action potentials during collision in the median and lateral giant axons of invertebrates- Physical review X 4: 031047, 12 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.4.031047.
- Gonzalez-Perez A., L.D. Mosgaard, R. Budvytyte, E. Villagran-Vargas, A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg- 2016-Solitary electromechanical pulses in lobster neurons- Biophysical Chemistry 216: 51-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2016.06.005.
- Græsbøll, H. Sasse-Middelhoff, T. Heimburg- 2014-The thermodynamics of general and local anesthesia-Biophysical Journal 106: (May) 2143-2156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2014.04.014.
- Greco A., S. Imoto, E.H.G. Backus, Y. Nagata, J. Hunger, M. Bonn- 2025-Ultrafast aqueous electric double layer dynamics- Science 388: (#6745, 4/25) 405-410. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adu5781.
- Greengard P-2001-The neurobiology of slow synaptic transmission-Science 294: (11/2) 1024-1030.
- Groc L., D. Choquet- 2020-Linking glutamate receptor movements and synapse function- Science 368: (#6496, 6/12) 1204. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay4631.
- Guttman R., R. Barnhill- 1970-Oscillation and repetitive firing in squid axons- Journal of General Physiology 55: 104-118.
- Haas J.S., B. Zavala, C.E. Landisman- 2011-Activity-dependent long-term depression of electrical synapses-Science 334: (#6054, 10/21) 389-393. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1207502.
- Hasenstaub A., S. Otte, E. Callaway, T.J. Sejnowski- 2010-Metabolic cost as a unifying principle governing neuronal biophysics- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 107: (#27, 7/6) 12329-12334. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0914886107.
- Hawasli A.H., O. Saifee, C. Liu, M.L. Nonet, C.M. Crowder-2004-Resistance to volatile anesthetics by mutations enhancing excitatory neurotransmitter release in *Caenorhabditis elegans* Genetics 168: 831-843. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.104.030502.
- Heimburg T- 2025-The mechanical properties of nerves, the size of the action potential, and consequences for the brain- Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 267: article 105461, 14 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2024.105461.
- Heimburg T- 2023-The excitable fluid mosaic- BBA Biomembranes 1865: article 184104, 11 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2022.184104.
- Heimburg T- 2022a-The effect of stretching on nerve excitability- Human Movement Science 86: article 103000, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2022.103000.
- Heimburg T- 2022b-The thermodynamic soliton theory of the nervous impulse and possible medical implications- Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 173: 24-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2022.05.007.

- Heimburg T- 2021-The important consequences of the reversible heat production in nerves and the abiabaticity of the action potential- Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 162: 26-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2020.07.007.
- Heimburg T- 2012-The capacitance and electromechanical coupling of lipid membranes close to transitions: The effect of electrostriction- Biophysical Journal 103: (Sept) 918-929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2012.07.010.
- Heimburg T-2010-Lipid ion channels-Biophysical Chemistry 150: 2-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2010.02.018.
- Heimburg T- 2007-Thermal Biophysics of Membranes- Tutorials in Biophysics- 363 pgs. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Weinheim, Germany.
- Heimburg T- 1998-Mechanical aspects of membrane thermodynamics. Estimation of the mechanical properties of lipid membranes close to the chain melting transition from calorimetry- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1415: 147-162.
- Heimburg T., P. Hildebrandt, D. Marsh-1991-Cytochome c-lipid interactions studied by resonance Raman and  ${}^{31}P$  NMR spectroscopy. Correlation between the conformational changes of the protein and the lipid bilayer-Biochemistry 30: 9084-9089.
- Heimburg T., A.D. Jackson- 2006-On the action potential as a propagating density pulse and the role of anesthetics- arXiv:physics/ob10117v2 [physics.bio-ph] Oct. 19, 13 pgs.
- Heimburg T., A.D. Jackson- 2005-On soliton propagation in biomembranes and nerves- Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 102: (#28, July 12) 9790-9795. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0503823102.
- Herold K.F., O.S. Andersen, H.C. Hemmings jr- 2017-Divergent effects of anesthetics on lipid bilayer properties and sodium channel function- European Biophysics Journal 46: (#7, Oct.) 617-626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-017-1239-1.
- Hestrin S- 2011-The strength of electrical synapses- Science 334: (#6054, 10/21) 315-316. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1213894.
- Hill A.V- 1912-The absence of temperature changes during the transmission of a nervous impulse- Journal of Physiology 43: 433-440.
- Hill A.V- 1959-The heat production of muscle and nerve, 1848-1914- Annual Review of Physiology 21: 1-19.
- Hille B- 2001-Classical biophysics of the squid giant axon- Chapter 2, pgs. 25-60, in Ion Channels of Excitable Membranes- 3rd edition. Sinauer Assoc. Inc., Sunderland, Massachusetts, U.S.A.
- Hodgkin A.L- 1937a-Evidence for electrical transmission in nerve. Part I- Journal of Physiology (London) 90: 183-210.
- Hodgkin A.L- 1937b-Evidence for electrical transmission in nerve. Part II- Journal of Physiology (London) 90: 211-232.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley- 1939-Action potentials recorded from inside a nerve fibre- Nature 144: (#3651, 10/21) 710-711.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley 1945-Resting and action potentials in single nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology (London) 104: 176-195.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley- 1952a-A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve- Journal of Physiology (London) 117: 500-544.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley- 1952b-Currents carried by sodium and potassium ions through the membrane of the giant axon of *Loligo* Journal of Physiology (London) 116: 449-472.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley- 1952c-The dual effect of membrane potential on sodium conductance in the giant axon of *Loligo* Journal of Physiology (London) 116: 497-506.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley- 1952d-The components of membrane conductance in the giant axon of *Loligo*-Journal of Physiology (London) 116: 473-496.
- Hodgkin A.L., A.F. Huxley, B. Katz- 1952e-Measurement of current-voltage relations in the membrane of the giant axon of *Loligo* Journal of Physiology (London) 116: 424-448.
- Hodgkin A.L., B. Katz- 1949a-The effect of sodium ions on the electrical activity of the giant axon of the squid-Journal of Physiology (London) 108: 37-77.
- Hodgkin A.L., B. Katz- 1949b-The effect of temperature on the electrical activity of the giant axon of the squid-Journal of Physiology 109: 240-249.

- Hodgkin A.L., R.D. Keynes- 1955-The potassium permeability of a giant nerve fibre- Journal of Physiology (London) 128: 61-88.
- Hormuzdi S.G., M.A. Filippov, G. Mitropoulou, H. Monyer, R. Bruzzone- 2004-Electrical synapses: a dynamic signaling system that shapes the activity of neuronal networks- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1662: 113-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2003.10.023.
- Howarth J.V- 1975-Heat production in non-myelinated nerves- Philisophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B 270: 425-432.
- Howarth J.V., R.D. Keynes, J.M. Ritchie- 1968-The origin of the initial heat associated with a single impulse in mammalian non-myelinated nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology (London) 194: 745-793.
- Howarth J.V., R.K. Keynes, J.M. Richie, A. von Muralt- 1975-The heat production associated with the passage of a single impulse in pike olfactory nerve fibers- Journal of Physiology (London) 249: 349-368.
- Howarth J.V., J.M. Ritchie, D. Stagg- 1979-The initial heat production in garfish olfactory nerve fibres-Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 205: 347-367.
- Howell B., L.E. Medina, W.M. Grill- 2015-Effects of frequency-dependent membrane capacitance on neural excitability- Journal of Neural Engineering 12: (#5) 056015. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/12/5/056015.
- Huang P-S., G. Oberdorfer, C. Xu, X.Y. Pei, B.L. Nannenga, J.M. Rogers, F. DiMaio, T. Gonen, B. Luisi, D. Baker-2014-High thermodynamic stability of parametrically designed helical bundles- Science 346: (#6208, 10/24) 481-485. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1257481.
- Huxley A-2002-From overshoot to voltage clamp-Trends in Neuroscience 25: (#11) 553-558.
- Huxley A.F., R. Stämpfli- 1949-Evidence for saltatory conduction in peripheral myelinated nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology (London) 108: 315-339.
- Iravanian S., C. Herndon, J.J. Langberg, F.H. Fenton- 2019-Theoretical modeling and experimential detection of the extracellular phasic impedance modulation in rabbit hearts- Frontiers in Physiology 10: (July) article 883, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00883.
- Islas L.D- 2016-Functional diversity of potassium channel voltage-sensing domains- Channels 10: (#3) 202-213. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336950.2016.1141842.
- Isom D.G., P.R. Marguet, T.G. Oas, H.W. Hellinga- 2011-A miniaturized technique for assessing protein thermodynamics and function using fast determination of quantitative cysteine reactivity- Proteins 79: (#4, April) 1034-1047. https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.22932.
- Jackson J.D- 1999-Classical Electrodynamics- 3rd edition. 833 pgs. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, U.S.A.
- Jackson M.B- 1984-Electrostatic activation enthalpy for ion transport through a membrane channel- Biophysics Journal 45: (Jan.) 99-100.
- Jensen M.Ø., V. Jogini, D.W. Borhani, A.E. Leffler, R.O. Dror, D.E. Shaw- 2012-Mechanism of voltage gating in potassium channels- Science 336: (#6078, 4/13) 229-233. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1216533.
- Jerusalem A., Z. Al-Rekabi, H. Chen, A. Ercole, M. Malboubi, M. Tamayo-Elizalde, L. Verhagen, S. Contera-2019-Electrophysiological-mechanical coupling in the neuronal membrane and its role in ultrasound neuromodulation and general anaesthesia- Acta Biomaterialia 97: 116-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.07.041.
- Johnson B.R., R.A. Wyttenbach, R. Wayne, R.R. Hoy- 2002-Action potentials in a giant algal cell: A comparative approach to mechanisms and evolution of excitability- The Journal of Undergraduate Neuroscience Education 1: (#1) A23-A27.
- Johnson F.H., E.A. Flagler- 1950-Hydrostatic pressure reversal of narcosis in tadpoles- Science 112: (7/21) 91-92. Johnson F.H- 1955-Inhibition and activation of intracellular luminescence- pgs. 265-296, in, The Luminescence of Biological Systems. F.H. Johnson editor. AAAS, Washington D.C., U.S.A.
- Jones G.A., S.K. Norris, Z. Henderson- 1999-Conduction velocities and membrane properties of different classes of rat septohippocampal neurons recorded *in vitro* Journal of Physiology 3: 867-877.
- Jones O.T., E.J. Konez, A.P. So- 1994-Imaging ion channels in live central neurons using fluorescent ligands: Ligand construction- pgs. 183-213, Chapter 8, in Three Dimensional confocal microscopy: Volume investigation of Biological Specimens. Ed. by J.K. Stevens, L.R. Mills, J.E. Trogadis. Academic Press. San Diego, California, U.S.A.

- Kariev A.M., M.E. Green- 2012-Voltage gated ion channel function: Gating, conduction, and the role of water and protons- International Journal of Molecular Sciences 13: 1680-1709. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13021680.
- Kelly M.K., G.E. Carvell, J.A. Hartings, D.J. Simons- 2001-Axonal conduction properties of antidromically identified neurons in rat barrel cortex- Somatosensory & Motor Research 18: (#3) 202-210.
- Keynes R.D- 1968-The thermodynamics of nerve and electric organ- Journal of General Physiology 51: (#5) 221-225.
- Keynes R.D- 1951-The ionic movements during nervous activity- Journal of Physiology 114: 119-150.
- Keynes R.D., J.M. Ritchie- 1970-The initial heat production of amphibian myelinated nerve fibres- Journal of Physiology 210: (Dec., suppl.) 29P-30P. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009258.
- Keynes R.D., J.M. Ritchie- 1965-The movements of labelled ions in mammalian non-myelinated nerve fibres-Journal of Physiology (London) 179: 333-367.
- Khvorostyanov V.I., J.A. Curry- 2004-Thermodynamic theory of freezing and melting of water and aqueous solutions- Journal of Physical Chemistry A 108: (#50) 11073-11085.
- Kim D.M., C.M. Nimigean- 2016b-Voltage-gated potassium channels: A structural examination for selectivity and gating- Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 8: (19 pgs) a029231. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029231.
- Kim I., A. Warshel- 2016a-A microscopic capacitor model of voltage coupling in membrane proteins: Gating charge fluctuations in Ci-VSD- The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 120: 418-432. https://doi.org/10.1021/asc.jpcb.5b10956.
- Kim G.H., P. Kosterin, A.L. Obaid, B.M. Salzberg- 2007-A mechanical spike accompanies the action potential in mammalian nerve terminals- Biophysical Journal 92: (May) 3122-3129. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.106.103754.
- Klausen L.H., T. Fuhs, M. Dong- 2016-Mapping surface charge density of lipid bilayers by quantitative surface conductivity microscopy- Nature Communications 7: article 12447, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12447.
- Koester H.J., D. Johnston- 2005-Target cell-dependent normalization of transmitter release at neocortical synapses- Science 308: (5/6) 863-866. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1100815.
- Körner J., S. Albani, V.S.B. Eswaran, A.B. Roehl, G. Rossetti, A. Lampert- 2022-Sodium channels and local anesthetics old friends with new perspectives- Frontiers in Pharmacology 13: article 837088, 18 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.837088.
- Kratochvil H.T., J.K. Carr, K. Matulef, A.W. Annen, H. Li, M. Maj, J. Ostmeyer, A.L. Serrano, H. Raghuraman, S.D. Moran, J.L. Skinner, E. Perozo, B. Roux, F.I. Valiyaveetil, M.T. Zanni- 2016-Instantaneous ion configurations in the K<sup>+</sup> ion channel selectivity filter revealed by 2D IR spectroscopy- Science 353: (#6303, 9/2) 1040-1044. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aag1447.
- Layne S.P- 1984-A possible mechanism for general anesthesia: Solitons in Biology- Los Alamos Science (Spring) 23-26.
- Lee H.J., D. Zhang, Y. Jiang, X. Wu, P-Y. Shih, C-S. Liao, B. Bungart, X-M. Xu, R. Drenan, E. Bartlett, J-X. Cheng-2017-Label-free vibrational spectroscopic imaging of neuronal membrane potential- Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters- 8: 1932-1936. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.7b00575.
- Li L., C. Li, Z. Zhang, E. Alexov-2013-On the dielectric "constant" of proteins: Smooth dielectric function for macromolecular modeling and its implementation in DelPhi- Journal of Chemical Theory and Computation 9: 2126-2136. https://doi.org/10.1021/ct400065j.
- Lindau M., E. Neher- 1988-Patch-clamp techniques for time-resolved capacitance measurements in single cells-Pflugers Archive 411: 137-146.
- Ling T., K.C. Boyle, V. Zuckerman, T. Flores, C. Ramakrishnan, K. Deisseroth, D. Palanker- 2020-High-speed interferometric imaging reveals dynamics of neuronal deformation during the action potential-Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 117: (#19) 10278-10285. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1920039117.

- Liu S., L. Gao, J. Chen, J. Yan- 2024-Single-neuron analysis of axon arbors reveals distinct presynaptic organizations between feedforward and feedback projections- Cell Reports 43: article 113590, 21 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellrep.2023.113590.
- Liu Y., Y. Zhang, J. Wang, C. Yang, H. Wang, J.L. MacManus-Driscoll, H. Yang, P.A. van Aken, W. Li, C-W. Nan-2025-Ultrahigh capacitive energy storage through dendritic nanopolar design- Science 388: (#6743,4/11) 211-216. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adt2703.
- Lorincz A., Z. Nusser- 2010-Molecular identity of dendritic voltage-gated sodium channels- Science 328: (#5980, 5/14) 906-909. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187958.
- Lucht, P- 2014-Transmission Lines and Maxwell's Equations- 584 pgs. Rimrock Digital Technology, Salt Lake City, Utah, U.S.A.
- Lund M., B. Jönsson- 2013-Charge regulation in biomolecular solution- Quarterly Review of Biophysics 46: (#3) 265-281. https://doi.org/10.1017.S003358351300005X.
- Luo L-2016-Principles of Neurobiology- 694 pgs., Garland Science, New York, New York, U.S.A.
- Ma Q.X., A. Arneodo, G.H. Ding, F. Argoul- 2017-Dynamical study of Nav channel excitability under mechanical stress- Biological Cybernetics 111: 129-148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00422-017-0712-3.
- Margineanu D-G., E. Schoffeniels- 1977-Molecular events and energy changes during the action potential-Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 74: (#9) 3810-3813.
- Massey D., N. Cunniffe, I. Moorani- 2022-Communication within neurons- Chapter 2, pgs. 18-46, in Carpenter's Neurophysiology. A conceptual approach. 6th edition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, U.S.A.
- Matsuki H., M. Goto, N. Tamai- 2019-Membrane states of saturated glycerophospholipids: A thermodynamic study of bilayer phase transitions- Chemical Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 67: (#4) 300-307. https://doi.org/10.1088/0967-3334/16/3A/001.
- McAdams E.T., J. Jossinet- 1995-Tissue impedance: a historical overview- Physiological Measurement 16: (Sept.)
- McClintock P.V.E, I.Kh. Kaufman- 2018-A review of Handbook of Ion Channels by Jie Zheng and Matthew C. Trudeau- Contemporary Physics 59: (#3) 305-307. https://doi.org/10.1080/00107514.2018.1464063.
- Meissner S.T- 2018-Proposed tests of the soliton wave model of action potentials, and of inducible lipid pores, and how non-electrical phenomena might be consistent with the Hodgkin-Huxley model- Physics arXiv, 45 pgs, arXiv:1808.07193v1 [physics.bio-ph]. https://arxiv.org/abs/1808.07193.
- Meissner S.T- 2022-Additional proposed tests of the soliton/wave-action potential model, and how the thermodynamic/theory-based philosophical approach abandons the scientific method. Preprints 2022080248, 82 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202208.0248.v1.
- Melchior D.L., J.M. Steim- 1976-Thermotropic transitions in biomembranes- Annual Review of Biophysics and Bioengineering 5: 205-238.
- Mendenhal W- 1975-Introduction to Probability and Statistics. 4th edition. 460 pgs. Duxbury Press. North Scituate, Mass., U.S.A.
- Mesquida P., D. Kohl, O.G. Andriotis, P.J. Thurner, M. Duer, S. Bansode, G. Schitter- 2018-Evaluation of surface charge shift of collagen fibrils exposed to glutaraldehyde- Scientific Reports 8: 10126, 7 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28293-1.
- Moldovan M., K.H.W. Lange, N.J. Aachmann-Andersen, T.W. Kjær, N.V. Olsen, C. Krarup- 2014-Transient impairment of the axolemma following regional anaesthesia by lidocaine in humans- The Journal of Physiology 13: 2735-2750. https://doi.org/10.1113.jphysiol.2014.270827.
- Mosgaard L.D., K.A. Zecchi, T. Heimburg- 2015-Mechano-capacitive properties of polarized membranes- Soft matter 11: 7899-7910. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5sm01519g.
- Murugan R., S. Mazumdar- 2004-A simple formalism on dynamics of proteins on potential energy landscapes-Protein Science 13: 487-493. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.03347504.
- Mussel M., M.F. Schneider- 2019-It sounds like an action potential: unification of electrical, chemical and mechanical aspects of acoustic pulses in lipids- Journal of the Royal Society Interface 16: 20180743, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2018.0743.

- Mussel M., M.F. Schneider- 2021-Sound pulses in lipid membranes and their potential function in biology-Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 162: 101-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2020.08.001.
- Mužić T., F. Tounsi, S.B. Madsen, D. Pollakowski, M. Konrad, T. Heimburg- 2019-Melting transitions in biomembranes- Biochemica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes 1861: 183026, 11 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2019.07.014.
- Narahashi T- 1965-Potential, structure, and excitability of giant axon membrane- Journal of General Physiology 48: 19-25.
- Neher E., B. Sakmann- 1976-Single-channel currents recorded from membrane of denervated frog muscle fibres-Nature 260: 799-802. https://doi.org/10.1038/260799a0.
- Neher E., A. Marty-1982-Discrete changes of cell membrane capacitance observed under conditions of enhanced secretion in bovine adrenal chromaffin cells- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 79: 6712-6716.
- Nosaka S., H. Kamaya, I. Ueda- 1988-High pressure and anesthesia: Pressure stimulates or inhibits bacterial biolumescence depending upon temperature- Anesthesia & Analgesia 67: 988-992.
- O'Brien J- 2014-The ever-changing electrical synapse- Current Opinion in Neurobiology 29: 64-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.05.011.
- Oh S., C. Fang-Yen, W. Choi, Z. Yaqoob, D. Fu, Y. Park, R.R. Dassari, M.S. Feld- 2012-Label-free imaging of membrane potential using membrane electromotility- Biophysical Journal 103: (July) 11-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2012.05.020.
- Ohki S-1969-The electrical capacitance of phospholipid membranes-Biophysical Journal 9: 1195-1205.
- Oldfield E., D. Chapman- 1972-Dynamics of lipids in membranes: Heterogeneity and the role of cholesterol-FEBS Letters 23: (#3, July) 285-297.
- Oliver D., B. Fakler- 1999-Expression density and functional characteristics of the outer hair cell motor protein are regulated during postnatal development in rat- Journal of Physiology 519: 791-800.
- Pal K., G. Gangopadhyay- 2018-Effect on site selective ion channel blocking on action potential- Physics arXiv, 21 pgs. arxiv 1818.00701v1 [physics.bio-ph] 10/1/2018.
- Pan X., Z. Li, Q. Zhou, H. Shen, K. Wu, X. Huang, J. Chen, J. Zhang, X. Zhu, J. Lei, W. Xiong, H. Gong, B. Xiao, N. Yan- 2018-Structure of the human voltage-gated sodium channel Nav1.4 in complex with β1- Science 362: (#6412, 10/19) 305. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau2486.
- Pan X., Z. Li, X. Huang, G. Huang, S. Gao, H. Shen, L. Liu, J. Lei, N. Yan-2019-Molecular basis for pore blockade of human  $Na^+$  channel  $Na_v1.2$  by the  $\mu$ -conotoxin KIIIA- Science 363: (#6433, 3/22) 1309-1313. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw2999.
- Peracchia C., J.D. Robertson- 1971-Increase in osmiophilia of axonal membranes of crayfish as a result of electrical stimulation, asphyxia, or treatment with reducing agents- Journal of Cell Biology 51: 223-239.
- Perea G., A. Araque- 2007-Astrocytes potentiate transmitter release at single hippocampal synapses- Science 317: (#5841, 8/24) 1083-1086. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1144640.
- Peters J., J. Marion, F.J. Becher, M. Trapp, T. Gutberlet, D.J. Bicout, T. Heimburg-2017-Thermodynamics of lipid multilamellar vesicles in presence of sterols at high hydrostatic pressure- Scientific Reports 7: 15339, 15 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15582-4.
- Pézolet M., D. Georgescauld- 1985-Raman spectroscopy of nerve fibers. A study of membrane lipids under steady state conditions- Biophysical Journal 47: (March) 367-372.
- Pissadaki E.K., J.P. Bolam- 2013-The energy cost of action potential propagation in dopamine neurons: clues to susceptibility in Parkinson's disease- Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience 7: (March 13) article 13, 17 pgs. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncom.2013.00013.
- Plait P-2023-Conspiracy theories then and now-Scientific American 329: (#5, Dec) 80-81.
- Powell C.L., A.M. Brown- 2021-A classic experiment revisited: membrane permeability changes during the action potential- Advances in Physiology Education 45: 178-181. https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00188.2020.
- Rahimi E., R. Offoiach, M. Lekka, L. Fedrizzi- 2022-Electronic properties and surface potential evaluations at the protein nano-biofilm/oxide interface: Impact on corrosion and biodegradation- Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 212: article 112346, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2022.112346.

- Rajaram S., T.L. Spangler, M.M. Sedensky, P.G. Morgan- 1999-A stomatin and a degenerin interact to control anesthetic sensitivity in *Caenorhabditis elegans* Genetics 153: 1673-1682.
- Rehberg G., B.W. Urban, D.S. Duch- 1995-The membrane lipid cholesterol modulates anesthetic actions on a human brain ion channel- Anesthesiology 82: (#3) 749-758.
- Ritchie J.M- 1973-Energetic aspects of nerve conduction: The relationships between heat production, electrical activity and metabolism- Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 26: 147-187.
- Ritchie J.M., R.D. Keynes- 1985-The production and absorption of heat associated with electrical activity in nerve and electric organ- Quarterly Review of Biophysics 18: (#4) 451-476. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583500005382.
- Roth S.H., R.A. Smith, W.D.M. Paxton- 1976-Pressure antagonism of anaesthetic-induced conduction failure in frog peripheral nerve- British Journal of Anaesthia 48: 621-628.
- Roux B- 2017-Ion channels and ion selectivity- Essays in Biochemistry 61: (#2, 5/9) 201-209. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20160074.
- Ruíz-Fernández A.R., L. Campos, F. Villanelo, S.E. Gutiérrez-Maldonado, T. Perez-Acle- 2021-Exploring the conformational changes induced by nanosecond pulsed electrical fields on the voltage-sensing domain of a Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel- Membranes 11: article 473, 21 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11070473.
- Sagan C- 1997-The Demon-Haunted World; Science as a candle in the dark- 438 pgs., Headline Book Publishing, London, U.K.
- Sakmann B., E. Neher- 1984-Patch-Clamp techniques for studying ionic channels in excitable membranes-Annual Review of Physiology 46: 455-472. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ph.46.030184.002323.
- Sanes D.H., T.A. Reh, W.A. Harris- 2006-Synapse formation and function- Chapter 8, pgs 207-245, in Development of the Nervous System, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Elsevier Academic Press, N.Y., N.Y., U.S.A.
- Sangrey T.D., W.O. Friesen, W.B. Levy- 2004-Analysis of the optimal channel density of the squid giant axon using a reparameterized Hodgkin-Huxley model- Journal of Neurophysiology 91: 2541-2550. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00646.2003.
- Santos-Sacchi J., W. Tan- 2022-On the frequency response of prestin charge movement in membrane patches-Biophysical Journal 121: (June) 2371-2379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2022.05.020.
- Sarkar A., G.E. Kellogg- 2010-Hydrophobicity shake flasks, protein folding and drug discovery- Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 10: (#1) 67-83.
- Savoie R., M. Pigeon-Gosselin, P. Pézolet, D. Georgescauld- 1986-Effect of the action potential on the Raman spectrum of the pike olfactory nerve- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 854: 329-333.
- Schewe M., H. Sun, Ü. Mert, A. Mackenzie, A.C.W. Pike, F. Schulz, C. Constantin, K.S. Vowinkel, L.J. Conrad, A.K. Kiper, W. Gonzalez, M. Musinszki, M. Tegtmeier, D.C. Pryde, H. Belabed, M. Nazare, B.L. de Groot, N. Decher, B. Fakler, E.P. Carpenter, S.J. Tucker, T. Baukrowitz- 2019-A pharmacological master key mechanism that unlocks the selectivity filter gate in K<sup>+</sup> channels- Science 363: (#6429, 2/22) 875-880. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav0569.
- Schoch P., D.F. Sargent, R. Schwyzer- 1979-Capacitance and conductance as tools for the measurement of asymmetric surface potentials and energy barriers of lipid bilayer membranes- Journal of Membrane Biology 46: 71-89. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01959975.
- Schoenberg M., G. Dominguez, H.A. Fozzard- 1975-Effect of diameter on membrane capacity and conductance of sheep cardiac Purkinje fibers- Journal of General Physiology 65: 441-458.
- Schroeter A., S. Walzik, S. Blechschmidt, V. Haufe, K. Benndorf, T. Zimmer-2010-Structure and function of splice variants of the cardiac voltage-gated sodium channel Nav 1.5- Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 49: 16-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2010.04.004.
- Seeger H.M., M.L. Gudmundsson, T. Heimburg- 2007-How anesthetics, neurotransmitters, and antibiotics influence the relaxation processes in lipid membranes- Journal of Physical Chemistry B 111: 13858-13866.
- Sehgal P., D.E. Otzen- 2006-Thermodynamics of unfolding of an integral membrane protein in mixed micelles-Protein Science 15: (#4) 890-899. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.052031306.
- Severin D., C. Moreno, T. Tran, C. Wesselborg, S. Shirley, A. Contreras, A. Kirkwood, J. Golowasch- 2024-Daily oscillations of neuronal membrane capacitance- Cell Reports 43: article 114744, 10 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2024.114744.

- Sfondouris J., L. Rajagopalan, F.A. Pereira, W.E. Brownell- 2008-Membrane composition modulates Prestinassociated charge movement- Journal of Biological Chemistry 283: (#33) 22473-22481. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M803722200.
- Shapiro M.G., K. Homma, S. Villarreal C-P. Richter, F. Bezanilla- 2012-Infrared light excited cells by changing their electrical capacitance- Nature Communications 3: 736, 10 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1742.
- Shaw T.R., S. Ghosh, S.L. Veatch- 2021-Critical phenomena in plasma membrane organization and function-Annual Review of Physical Chemistry 72: 51-72. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physchem-090419-115951.
- Shen H., Q. Zhou, X. Pan, Z. Li, J. Wu, N. Yan- 2017-Structure of a eukaryotic voltage-gated sodium channel at near-atomic resolution- Science 355: (#6328, 3/3) 924. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal4326.
- Shen H., Z. Li, Y. Jiang, X. Pan, J. Wu, B. Cristofori-Armstrong, J.J. Smith, Y.K.Y. Chin, J. Lei, Q. Zhou, G.F. King, N. Yan- 2018-Structural basis for the modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels by animal toxins-Science 362: (#6412, 10/19) 306. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau2596.
- Shen H., D. Liu, K. Wu, J. Lei, N. Yan- 2019-Structures of human Na<sub>v</sub>1.7 channel in complex with auxiliary subunits and animal toxins- Science 363: (#6433, 3/22) 1303-1308. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw2493.
- Shepherd G.M- 1988a-The action potential- Chapter 6, pgs. 101-121, in Neurobiology, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Oxford University Press, New York, U.S.A.
- Shepherd G.M- 1988b-The synapse- Chapter 4, pgs. 65-86, in Neurobiology, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Oxford University Press, N.Y., N.Y., U.S.A.
- Shrivastava S- 2021-Shock and detonation waves at an interface and the collison of action potentials- Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 162: 111-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2020.12.002.
- Shrivastava S., H.J. Lee, J-X. Cheng- 2020-A thermodynamic interpretation of the stimulated Raman spectroscopic signature to action potential in single neurons- bioRxiv preprint, 12 pgs., posted on 4/23/2020. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.20.052332.
- Sigworth F.J., E. Neher- 1980-Single Na<sup>+</sup> channel currents observed in cultured rat muscle cells- Nature 287: (Oct.) 447-449.
- Sivasankar S., S. Subramaniam, D. Leckband- 1998-Direct molecular level measurements of the electrostatic properties of a protein surface- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 95: (Oct.) 12961-12966.
- Smith A.E., L.Z. Zhou, A.H. Gorensek, M. Senske, G.J. Pielak- 2016-In-cell thermodynamics and a new role for protein surfaces- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 113: (#7, 2/16) 1725-1730. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1518620113.
- Sonnleitner A., L.M. Mannuzzu, S. Terakawa, E.Y. Isacoff- 2002-Structural rearrangements in single ion channels detected optically in living cells- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 99: (#20, 10/1) 12759-12764. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.192261499.
- Steim J.M., M.E. Tourtellotte, J.C. Reinert, R.N. McElhaney, R.L. Rader- 1969-Calorimetric evidence for the liquid-crystalline state of lipids in a biomembrane- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 63: 104-109.
- Stepnoski R.A., A. LaPorta, F. Raccuia-Behling, G.E. Blonder, R.E. Slusher, D. Kleinfeld- 1991-Noninvasive detection of changes in membrane potential in cultured neurons by light scattering- Proceeding of the National Academy of Science U.S.A. 88: (Nov.) 9382-9386.
- Stern M., R. Kreber, B. Ganetzky- 1990-Dosage effects of a Drosophila sodium channel gene on behavior and axonal excitability- Genetics 124: (Jan.) 133-143.
- Sun A.X., Q. Yuan, M. Fukuda, W. Yu, H. Yan, G.G.Y. Lim, M.H. Nai, G.A. D'Agostino, H-D. Tran, Y. Itahana, D. Wang, H. Lokman, K. Itahana, S.W.L. Lim, J. Tang, Y.Y. Chang, M. Zhang, S.A. Cook, O.J.L. Rackham, C.T. Lim, E.K. Tan, H.H. Ng, K.L. Lim, Y-H. Jiang, H.S. Je- 2019-Potassium channel dysfunction in human neuronal models of Angelman syndrome- Science 366: (#6472, 12/20) 1486-1492. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav5386.
- Sylwestrak E.L., A. Ghosh- 2012-Elfn1 regulates target-specific release probability at CA1-interneuron synapses-Science 338: (#6106, 10/26) 536-540. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1222482.
- Takashima S- 1976-Membrane capacity of squid giant axon during hyper- and depolarizations- Journal of Membrane Biology 27: 21-29. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01869127.



- Tapia J.C., L.F. Aguilar, C. P. Sotomayor, L.G. Aguayo- 1998-Ethanol affects the function of a neurotransmitter receptor protein without altering the membrane lipid phase- European Journal of Pharmacology 354: 239-244
- Tasaki I- 1999-Rapid structural changes in nerve fibers and cells associated with their excitation processes— Japanese Journal of Physiology 49: 125-138.
- Tasaki I- 1982-Physiology and Electrochemistry of Nerve Fibers. 348 pgs. Academic Press. New York, New York, U.S.A.
- Tasaki I- 1939-The electro-saltatory transmission of the nerve impulse and the effect of narcosis upon the nerve fiber- American Journal of Physiology 127: (#2, Sept. 1) 211-227.
- Tasaki I., P.M. Byrne- 1992-Heat production associated with a propagated impulse in bullfrog myelinated nerve fibers- Japanese Journal of Physiology 42: 805-813.
- Tasaki I., P.M. Byrne- 1990-Volume expansion of nonmyelinated nerve fibers during impulse conduction-Biophysical Journal 57: (March) 633-635.
- Tasaki I., M. Fujita- 1948-Action currents of single nerve fibers as modified by temperature changes- Journal of Neurophysiology 11: (#4) 311-315.
- Tasaki I., K. Iwasa- 1980-Shortening of nerve fibers assocated with propagated nerve impulse- Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 94: (#2, 5/30) 716-720.
- Tasaki I., K. Kusano, P.M. Byrne- 1989-Rapid mechanical and thermal changes in the garfish olfactory nerve associated with a propagated impulse- Biophysical Journal 55: (June) 1033-1040.
- Tasaki I., A. Watanabe, T. Takenaka- 1962-Resting and action potential of intracellularly prefused squid giant axon- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 48: 1177-1184.
- Thiel G., U. Homann, C. Plieth- 1997-Ion channel activity during the action potential in *Chara*: New insights with new techniques- Journal of Experimental Botany 48: (#s) 609-622. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/48.Special\_Issue.609.
- Touska F., B. Turnquist, V. Vlachova, P.W. Reeh, A. Leffler, K. Zimmermann- 2018-Heat-resistant action potentials require TTX-resistant sodium channels Nav1.8 and Nav1.9- Journal of General Physiology 150: (#8) 1125-1144. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201711786.
- Toyama S., A. Nakamura, F. Toda- 1991- Measurement of voltage dependence of capacitance of planar bilayer lipid membrane with a patch clamp amplifier- Biophysical Journal 59: (April) 939-944.
- Träuble H., H. Eibl- 1974-Electrostatic effects on lipid phase transitions: Membrane structure and ionic environment- Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 71: (#1, Jan.) 214-219.
- Trudell J.R- 1977-A unitary theory of anesthesia basd on lateral phase separations in nerve membranes-Anesthesiology 46: 5-10.
- Tsuchiya H., M. Mizogami- 2013-Interaction of local anesthetics with biomembranes consisting of phospholipids and cholesterol: Mechanistic and clinical implications for anesthetic and cardiotoxic effects- Anesthesiology Research and Practice article 297141, 18 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/297141.
- Tsutsul M., A. Arima, K. Yokota, Y. Baba, T. Kawal- 2022-Ionic heat dissipation in solid-state pores- Science Advances 8: (Feb. 11) article eabl7002, 8 pgs.. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abl7002.
- Ueda I- 2001-Molecular mechanisms of anesthesia- Keio Journal of Medicine 50: (#1) 20-25.
- Valiyaveetil F.I., M. Leonetti, T.W. Muir, R. MacKinnon- 2006-Ion selectivity in a semisynthetic K<sup>+</sup> channel locked in the conductive conformation- Science 314: (11/10) 1004-1007. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1133415.
- Vandael D., P. Jonas- 2024-Structure, biophysics, and circuit function of a "giant" cortical presynaptic terminal-Science 383: (#6687, 3/8) 1071-1072. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adg6757.
- van Swinderen B., L.B. Metz, L.D. Shebester, J.E. Mendel, P.W. Sternberg, C.M. Crowder- 2001-Go $\alpha$  regulates volatile anesthetic action in *Caenorhabditis elegans* Genetics 158: (June) 643-655.
- Vargas E.V., A. Ludu, R. Hustert, P. Gumrich, A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg-2011-Periodic solutions and refractory periods in the soliton theory for nerves and the locust femoral nerve-Biophysical Chemistry 153: 159-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2010.11.001.
- Velikonja A., P. Kramar, D. Miklavčič, A.M. Lebar- 2016-Specific electrical capacitance and voltage breakdown as a function of temperature for different planar lipid bilayers- Bioelectrochemistry 112: 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2016.02.009.

- Wang L- 2012-Measurements and implications of the membrane dipole potential- Annual Review of Biochemistry 81: 615-635. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-070110-123033.
- Wang T., A. Gonzalez-Perez, R. Budvytyte, A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg-2017-Reply to "Comment on 'Penetration of action potentials during collision in the median and lateral giant axons of invertebrates"- Physical Review X 7: 028002, 3 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.7.028002.
- Wang T., T. Mužić, A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg- 2018-The free energy of biomembrane and nerve excitation and the role of anesthetics- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes 1860: 2145-2153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2018.04.003.
- Westendorff K.S., M.J. Hülsey, T.S. Wesley, Y. Román-Leshkov, Y. Surendranath- 2024-Electrically driven proton transfer promotes Brønsted acid catalysis by orders of magnitude- Science 383: (#6684, 2/16) 757-763. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adk4902.
- Whicher J.R., R. MacKinnon- 2016-Structure of the voltage-gated K<sup>+</sup> channel Eag1 reveals an alternative voltage sensing mechanism- Science 353: (#6300, 8/12) 664-669. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf8070.
- White S.H- 1970-Thickness changes in lipid bilayer membranes- Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 196: (#2) 354-357.
- Wittner L., D.A. Henze, L. Záborszky, G. Buzsáki- 2007-Three-dimensional reconstruction of the axon arbor of a CA3 pyramidal cell recorded and filled in vivo- Brain Structure and Function 212: (#1) 75-83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-007-0148-y.
- Wulf M., S.A. Pless- 2018-High-sensitivity fluorometry to resolve ion channel conformational dynamics- Cell Reports 22: (2/6) 1615-1626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.01.029.
- Yang Y., X-W. Liu, H. Wang, H. Yu, Y. Guan, S. Wang, N. Tao- 2018-Imaging action potential in single mammalian neurons by tracking the accompanying sub-nanometer mechanical motion- ACS Nano 12: (#5) 4183-4193. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b00867.
- Yeomans J- 1995-Electrically evoked behaviors: axons and synapses mapped with collision tests- Behavioural Brain Research 67: 121-132.
- Yi G-S., J. Wang, H-Y. Li, X-L. Wei, B. Deng- 2016-Metabolic energy of action potentials modulated by spike frequency adaptation- Frontiers in Neuroscience 10: (Nov.) article 534, 19 pgs. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00534.
- Zecchi K.A., L.D. Mosgaard, T. Heimburg- 2017-Mechano-capacitative properties of polarized membranes and the application to conductance measurements of lipid membrane patches- Journal of Physics, IOP Conference Series: 780: 012001, 9 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/780/1/012001.
- Zhang J., X. Chen, Y. Xue, N. Gamper, X. Zhang- 2018-Beyond voltage-gated ion channels: Voltage-operated membrane proteins and cellular processes- Journal of Cellular Physiology 233: (#10) 6377-6385. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26555.
- Zhao Q- 2015-A thermodynamic and theoretical view for enzyme regulation- Biochemistry (Moscow) 80: (#1) 1-7 (English version).
- Zhou Y., Y. Hao, P. Sun, M. Chen, T. Zhang, H. Wu- 2022-Relationship among surface electric double layer of cardiomyocyte membrane and toxicology of digoxin and opening of ion channels- Scientific Reports 12: 20749, 11 pgs. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-25205-2.
- Zimmermann D., A. Zhou, M. Kiesel, K. Feldbauer, U. Terpitz, W. Haase, T. Schneider-Hohendorf, E. Bamberg, V.L. Sukhorukov- 2008-Effects on capacitance by overexpression of membrane proteins- Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 369: 1022-1026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.02.153.

**Disclaimer/Publisher's Note:** The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.